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Credit Suisse Management Cayman Limited

Director, Brian Burkholder
1104
309
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands

03 6775 1000

Credit Suisse Universal Trust Cayman - AUD Short Term Bond
Fund

50 4,479

2022 12 30
89.57
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Credit Suisse Universal Trust Cayman -AUD Short Term Bond Fund
50 4,479
2020 24
0.01

2023 2024 29
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Credit Suisse
Management
Cayman Limited

Elian Trustee

Cayman Limited
2020 17
Brown Brothers
Harriman & Co.
2020 17
2020
2020 17

Credit Suisse

International
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2020 17

2020 10

Credit Suisse Management Cayman Limited

2022 12 735,000
735,000 9,753
2000
735,000
100
88
2022 12 30 132.70
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2022 12
2,949,014.24 31.7
1,666,110.18 17.9
1,628,667.50 17.5
1,147,127.10 12.3
400,015.61 4.3
942,734.24 10.1
573,221.02 6.2
9,306,889.89
100.0
( 834 )
2022 12
HSBC HOLDINGS PLC
/AUD/ REGD V/R REG S 41497 | 202472716 | 600000 | 100.02 | 60012040 | 99.91 | 599455.14 6.4%
EMTN
CITIGROUP INC /AUD/
47747 [ 2023/10/27 | 593,000 | 100.89 | 598,303.03 | 100.50 | 595990.42 6.4%
REGD V/R
WELLS FARGO & COMPANY
47500 | 2024/8/27 | 600000 | 10576 | 63453959 | 99.25 | 59549273 6.4%
/AUD/ REGD MTN
LLOYDS BANKING GROUP
3.6500 | 2023/3/20 | 530000 | 10057 | 53300523 | 99.78 | 528852.04 5.7%
PLC /AUD/ REGD MTN
BARCLAYS PLC /AUD/
4.9669 | 2023/6/15 | 500000 | 100.31 | 50156828 | 100.07 | 500,360.32 5.4%
REGD V/R REG S
TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
3.9000 | 2024/7/10 | 500000 | 100.97 | 50485268 | 100.04 | 500,196.33 5.4%
/AUD/ REGD V/R
TOYOTA FINANCE
3.3000 [ 2023/11/22 | 500000 | 101.81 | 50905471 | 99.03 | 495149.02 5.3%
AUSTRALIA /AUD/ REGD
VOLKSWAGEN FIN SERV
2.4000 | 2024/8/28 | 430,000 | 101.34 | 43576083 | 95.75 | 411,721.24 4.4%
AUST /AUD/ REGD MTN
WESTPAC BANKING CORP
/AUD/ REGD V/R REG S 3.9297 | 2024/8/16 | 400000 | 100.76 | 403053.87 | 100.34 | 401234143 4.3%
MTN
BANK OF MONTREAL /AUD/
10 39412 | 2024/7/17 | 400000 | 101.03 | 40413286 | 100.02 | 400,089.85 4.3%
REGD V/R MTN
BANCO SANTANDER SA
11 [/AUD/ REGD V/R REG S 46119 | 2023/1/19 | 400000 | 100.02 | 400,086.14 | 100.00 | 40001561 43%
EMTN
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA
12 2.3500 | 2025/2/25 | 400,000 | 96.13 | 38452252 | 9528 | 38110203 4.1%
BANK /AUD/ REGD MTN
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP
13 | INC /AUD/ REGD V/R REG 46045 | 2024/5/2 | 350,000 | 10141 | 35492000 | 10025 [ 35088838 [ 3.8%
S MTN
EUROPEAN INVESTMENT
14 05000 | 2023/6/21 | 330,000 | 10004 | 330,129.19 | 98.49 | 32500235 | 3.5%
BANK /AUD/ REGD EMTN
UBS AG AUSTRALIA /AUD/
15 12000 | 2025/7/30 | 350,000 | 9152 | 32032512 | 90.70 | 317,46023 | 3.4%
REGD REG S SER
MIZUHO FINANCIAL GROUP
16 43619 | 2023/7/19 | 300,000 | 10037 | 301,09629 | 100.09 [ 30027166 | 3.2%
/AUD/ REGD V/R
MACQUARIE BANK LTD
17 17500 | 2024/8/7 | 300,000 | 9571 | 28713902 | 9526 | 28577253 | 3.1%
/AUD/ REGD MTN
CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK
18 16000 | 2023/6/9 | 250,000 | 100.38 | 25094841 | 98.74 | 24684092 | 2.7%
/AUD/ REGD MTN
AUST & NZ BANKING
19 40500 | 2025/5/12 | 250,000 | 10048 | 251,19894 | 9854 | 24633831 | 2.6%
GROUP /AUD/ REGD MTN
SUNCORP-METWAY LTD
20 1.8500 | 2024/7/30 | 250,000 | 10145 | 25363406 | 9553 | 23882476 | 2.6%
/AUD/ REGD MTN
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA
21 [BANK /AUD/ REGD REG S 32500 | 2023/9/26 | 200,000 | 99.62 | 19923430 | 9930 | 198599.60 | 2.1%
MTN
MERCEDES-BENZ
22 [AUSTRALIA /AUD/ REGD 1.0000 | 2024/3/15 | 200,000 | 99.90 | 19980722 | 9601 | 19202898 | 2.1%
REG S EMTN
CITIGROUP INC /AUD/
23| cep 3.7500 | 2023/10/27 | 125000 | 101.99 | 127,48459 | 9899 | 12373865 1.3%
WESTPAC BANKING CORP
24 3.0000 | 202474724 | 100000 | 9938 | 9937691 | 9814 | 9813634 1.1%
/AUD/ REGD REG S MTN
2022 12
2022 12
2022 2022 12
10,650,354.28 953,952,233 1.0043 90
2021
8,855,369.76 793,175,469 0.9883 89
2022
2022 10,860,202.49 972,748,337 1.0013 90
2022 10,913,366.99 977,510,281 0.9998 90
2022 10,314,428.79 923,863,387 0.9923 89
2022 9,415,872.00 843,379,655 0.9887 89
2022 9,359,398.82 838,321,352 0.9870 88
2022 8,728,556.02 781,816,763 0.9847 88
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2022 8,743,084.51 783,118,080 0.9889 89
2022 8,855,369.76 793,175,469 0.9883 89
2022 8,737,340.20 782,603,562 0.9873 88
2022 10 8,757,018.20 784,366,120 0.9896 89
2022 11 9,452,103.25 846,624,888 0.9938 89
2022 12 9,306,889.89 833,618,127 0.9953 89
2022 12
2020 24 2022
0.4
2020 24 2021
-1.6
2021 2022

100x
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2020 24 2022
13,241,074 2,636,036 10,605,038
2020 24
(11,341,074) (2,636,036) (8,705,038)
2021
2021 1,383,002 2,995,624 8,992,416
2022 (1,383,002) (2,995,624) (7,092,416)
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2025 29
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2022 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
AUD AUD
2.2 5
6 8,448,241 756,709 10,098,648 904,536
2.1 603,517 54,057 408,623 36,600
84,283 7,549 107,531 9,632
2.10 3 151,161 13,539 6,172 553
2.11 40,157 3,597 53,148 4,760
2.5 15,636 1,401 40,401 3,619
9,342,995 836,852 10,714,523 959,700
2.1 44 4
2.4 382,364 34,248
7.1D 36,781 3,294 24,707 2,213
19,422 1,740
7.1E 5,952 533 1,574 141
7.1B 2,402 215 2,525 226
7.1C 1,950 175 1,723 154
7.2B 1,780 159 2,166 194
7.2D 1,751 157 422 38
7.1A 1,690 151 7,267 651
2.8 2.10 3 1,383 124
7.2E 165 15 90 8
7.2F 149 13 181 16
455,789 40,825 40,699 3,645
8,887,206 796,027 10,673,824 956,054
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2022 8 31
2020 9 24
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
AUD AUD
FVTPL ™
2.11 104,724 9,380 68,872 6,169
2.11 6 (24,487) (2,193) 3,296 295
2.2 2.11 6 (210,253) (18,832) 40,772 3,652
2.6 142 13 25 2
(129,874) (11,633) 112,965 10,118
7.1A 58,160 5,209 51,347 4,599
7.1D 48,767 4,368 24,706 2,213
36,308 3,252 59,323 5,314
24,865 2,227 23,514 2,106
7.2D 16,539 1,481 4,481 401
7.1E 16,539 1,481 4,481 401
7.18 13,568 1,215 12,627 1,131
7.28 12,154 1,089 10,754 963
7.1C 8,920 799 9,233 827
7.2E 1,013 91 896 80
7.2F 1,013 91 896 80
237,846 21,304 202,258 18,116
2.5 (171,617) (15,372) (166,412) (14,906)
(196,103) (17,565) 77,119 6,908
(196,103) (17,565) 77,119 6,908
1

FVTPL
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2022 8 31
AUD
2020 9 24

3 13,241,346 1,186,027
2.8 3 (2.644,641) (236,880)
77,119 6,908
2021 8 31 10,673,824 956,054
3 1,378,701 123,490
2.8 3 (2.,969,216) (265,953)
(196,103) (17,565)
2022 8 31 8,887,206 796,027
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2022 8 31
2020 9 24
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
AUD AUD
(196,103) (17,565) 77,119 6,908
(3,132,593) (280,586)  (15,816,002)  (1,416,639)
4,428,536 396,664 5,569,511 498,861
(142) 13) (25) @
24,487 2,193 (3,296) (295)
210,253 18,832 (40,772) (3.652)
(320) (29) @n @
120,186 10,765 191,963 17,194
12,991 1,164 (53,148) (4,760)
24,765 2,218 (40,401) (3.619)
23,248 2,082 (107,531) (9,632)
382,364 34,248
31,387 2,811 40,655 3,641
1,929,059 172,786 (10,181,954) (911,998)
1,233,712 110,504 13,235,174 1,185,475
(2,967,833) (265,829) (2,644,641) (236,880)
(1,734,121) (155,325) 10,590,533 948,594
194,938 17,461 408,579 36,596
2.1 408,579 36,596
2.1 603,517 54,057 408,579 36,596
117,715 10,544 15,725 1,408
1

60/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

61/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 8 31
1.
2013 12 2
I
2020 8 28
2020 9 24 2025 8 29
100
2021 2014 1 22
KY1-9005 1 One Nexus Way, Camana
Bay, Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands
2021 12 6 CSC
100
CsC
2022
2021 2 15
2021 2 3
2021 1 19
2021 1 18
2021 1 18
AUD $
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2022 8 31
2021 12 6 CSC
100
CSC
2022
2022 12 16
2.
IASB
IFRS IFRS
4
IFRS 10 IFRS 12 IAS 27 2012
IFRS 9 3
FVTPL FVOCI IFRS 9

FVTPL
FVTPL

ii SPPI

i SPPI

ii)
FVTPL

SPPI
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2022 8 31

ECL FVOCI

ECL

- FVTPL
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ECL

2022 8 31
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2022 8 31
2021 9 1
2.1
3
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
$ 202 $ -
603,315 408,623
603,517 408,623
- (44)
$ 603517 $ 408,579
2.2
A
FVTPL
2022 8 31 2022 8 31
$ 8,448,241  $ 8,617,722
2021 8 31 2021 8 31
$ 10,098,648  $ 10,057,876
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2.3

31 2021 8 31

24

2.5

0.90

TER
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TER TER
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2022 8 31
2 TER
0.50 0.40
0.50 0.75 0.50
0.75 1.00 0.60
1.00 1.25 0.70
1.25 0.90
TER
(@
(b)
(©) TER
(d) (@ (b)
(e) TER
TER
2.6
A
B
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2022 8 31

2.7

2.8
IAS 32

2022 8 31 2021 8 31

2.9

2.10

2.11 FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTPL FVTPL

FVTPL
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FVTPL
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2022 8 31
2.12
2063 12 2
1 2022 8 31 2020 9 24
2021 8 31
IAS 12
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
3.
1
1 1 1
7 00
7 00
2022 8 31 1
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8,887,206 8,992,416 $ 0.9883
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2022 8 31
2021 8 31 1
1
$ 10,673,824 10,605,038 $ 1.0065
2022 8 31 68.17 21.13
9.47 0.88 0.35
2021 8 31 61.90
17.91 13.63 5.41 1.15
1
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2021 8 31 2022 8 31
$ 10,596,705 1,378,701  $ (2,969,216)  $ 9,006,190
2020 9 24 2021 8 31
$ - 13,241,346  $ (2,644,641) $ 10,596,705
2022 8 31 2020 9 24
2021 8 31
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2022 8 31
2021 8 31 2022 8 31
10,605,038 1,383,002 (2,995,624) 8,992,416
2020 9 24 2021 8 31
- 13,241,074 (2,636,036) 10,605,038
1
4.
5.
5.1
A
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2022 8 31
2022 8 31 1 1 5 5
$ 2,809,905 $ 5,638,336 $ -3 - $ 8,448,241
603,517 - 603,517
84,283 84,283
151,161 151,161
40,157 40,157
15,636 15,636
$ 3,413,422 $ 5,638,336 $ - 0§ 201,237 $ 9,342,995
2022 8 31 1 1 5 5
$ $ $ - $ 382,364 $ 382,364
36,781 36,781
19,422 19,422
5,952 5,952
2,402 2,402
1,950 1,950
1,780 1,780
1,751 1,751
1,690 1,690
1,383 1,383
165 165
149 149
- - - 455,789 455,789
$ 3413422 $ 5,638,336 $ - $ (164552 $ 8,887,206
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2022 8 31
2021 8 31 1 1 5 5
$ 2,507,717 $ 7,590,931  $ - $ - $ 10,098,648
408,623 - - - 408,623
- - 107,531 107,531
- - 53,148 53,148
; ; 40,401 40,401
- - 6,172 6,172
$ 2916340 $ 7,590,931 $ - % 207,252  $ 10,714,523
2021 8 31 1 1 5 5
$ 44 S -8 - $ -8 44
} ; 24,707 24,707
- - 7,267 7,267
- - 2,525 2,525
- - 2,166 2,166
- - 1,723 1,723
; ; 1,574 1,574
} . 422 422
- - 181 181
- - 90 90
44 - - 40,655 40,699
$ 2,916,296 $ 7,590,931 § -8 166,553  $ 10,673,824
2022 8 31 2021 8 31 50
1
39,224 48,450
ili
2022 8 31

80/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

$ 1,095,756 12.4
7,030,402 79.1

322,083 3.6

8,448,241 95.1

8,448,241 95.1
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2022 8 31

$ 2,464,595 27.8

1,145,539 12.9

200,461 2.3

309,489 3.5

300,947 3.4

322,083 3.6

400,728 4.5

1,630,457 18.3

1,673,942 18.8

8,448,241 95.1

8,448,241 95.1

2021 8 31

$ 1,463,430 13.7

8,304,152 77.8

331,066 3.1

10,098,648 94.6

10,098,648 94.6

$ 2,122,811 19.9

662,378 6.2

203,574 1.9

322,124 3.0

662,132 6.2

331,066 31

811,103 7.6

407,481 3.8

2,339,374 21.9

2,236,605 21.0

10,098,648 94.6

10,098,648 94.6

2022 8 31 2021 8 31 1
84,482 100,986 1
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2022 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
A 2022 8 31 2021 8 31
2022 8 31
*
Aaa 3.6
Aa3 12.7
Al 24.0
A2 11.2
A3 27.6
Baal 6.8
Baa2 9.2
95.1
* S&P
2021 8 31
Aaa 3.1
Al 20.4
A2 20.8
A3 26.8
Baal 13.3
Baa2 10.2
94.6
S&P
C
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2022 8 31
2022 8 31 1 13
$ 382,364 $ -8 382,364
36,781 - 36,781
19,422 - 19,422
5,952 - 5,952
2,402 - 2,402
1,950 - 1,950
1,780 - 1,780
1,751 - 1,751
1,690 - 1,690
1,383 - 1,383
165 - 165
149 - 149
$ 455,789 $ -8 455,789
2021 8 31 1 13
$ 44 $ -3 44
24,707 - 24,707
7,267 - 7,267
2,525 - 2,525
2,166 - 2,166
1,723 - 1,723
1,574 - 1,574
422 - 422
181 - 181
90 - 90
$ 40,699 $ -8 40,699
15
D
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2022 8 31

5.2

2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
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2022 8 31

GDP

2025 8 29

5.3
IFRS 13
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2022 8 31
2022 8 31
2022 8 31
1 2 3
$ - $ 8,448,241 $ - $ 8,448,241
$ - $ 8,448,241 $ - $ 8,448,241
2021 8 31
2021 8 31
1 2 3
$ - $ 10,098,648 $ - $ 10,098,648
$ - $ 10,098,648 $ - $ 10,098,648
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31 123
2
2
3 2022 8 31 2021
8 31 3
i 2022 8 31 2021 8 31
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2022 8 31
6.
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
$ (24,345) $ 3,321
(142) (25)
$ (24,487) $ 3,296
$ (210,253) $ 40,772
7.
7.1
A
3,750 5 0.07 5
0.06 10 0.05 1 2022 8 31
2020 9 24 2021 8 31 2022 8 31 2021
8 31
B
0.03
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
C
0.01 1 10
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
D
2022 8 31 2020 9 24
2021 8 31 2022 8 31 2021 8 31
E)
0.30
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2 )
0.50 0.05
0.50 0.75 0.10
0.75 1.00 0.15
1.00 1.25 0.20
1.25 0.30

94/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 8 31
2022 8 31
2020 9 24 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
7.2
A
10,000
B
0.12
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
TER
TER TER
C
5,000
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2022 8 31
D
0.30
2
2
)
0.50 0.05
0.50 0.75 0.10
0.75 1.00 0.15
1.00 1.25 0.20
1.25 0.30
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
E
0.01
2022 8 31 2020 9 24
2021 8 31 2022 8 31 2021 8
31
F
0.01
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
2022 8 31 2021 8 31
8.
10
2022 8 31 2020 9 24 2021 8 31
9.
2022 12 16 2022 9
1 2022 12 16 759,082 413,810

2022 11 7 CSC CsC
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund

Statement of Financial Position

August 31, 2022

(Expressed in Australian Dolfars)

Assels August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021

Financlal assels at fair value through profit of loss (Note 2.2, 5, 8) ] 8,448 241 5 10,006 648

Cash and cash equivalents {Nate 2.1) 603,517 408,623

Oither asgets 84,283 107,531

Recelvables for:
Units issued (MNote 2,10, 3) 151,181 8,172
Imterest (Mole 2.11) 40,157 53,148
Expense reimbursément (Mate 2.5) 15,636 40401

Total assets p4z85 10,714523

Liabilities

Bank overdrafl {Mole 2.1) - 44

Payables for
Securilies purchased (Nole 2.4) 382,384 -
Professional feas (Nole 7.10) 36,781 24,707
Prinfing fees 19,422 -
Distribution feas (MNole 7.1E) 5,952 1,574
Custody fees (Mote 7.1B) 2,402 2,525
Transfer agent fees (Nole 7.1C) 1,850 1,723
Fes agent fees (Mol 7.2B) 1,780 2,166
Investment managemeant fees (Mole 7.20) 1.751 422
Adrinistrator feas (Mote 7.14) 1,680 T.267
Units rapurchased (Mote 2.8, 2.10, 3) 1,383 -
Manager support senvice provider fees (Note 7,2E) 165 a0
Agent member company faes (Mate 7.2F) 148 181

Liabilities (excluding equity) 455,789 40,698

Equity (being net assets attributabda 1o the holders of units) 3 8,887,206 5 10,673,824

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these Bnanclal statements,
1
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{Exprassed in Australian Doltars)

Incame
Mel incomedloss) from fnancial instruments at FVTPLY

Interest Income (Mate 2.11)

Met realized (lnzs)igain on financial assets and labilitles al fair value
through profit or loss (Nate 2.11, 6)

Wel change in unrealized {depreciation)fappreciation an financial assets
and lkabdlilies al fair value through profit or loss (Mote 2.2, 2.11, 6)

Nel realized gain on forelgn cumrency transaciions (Note 2.6)
Tatal (loss)fincome

Expenses
Administrator fees (Nola T.14)
Professional fees (Mole 7.10)
Crganization expenses
Printing feas
Investment management fees (Moba 7.20)
Distribution fees (Mot 7.1E)
Custody faes (Nole 7.18)
Fae agent fees (Nola 7.28)
Transfer agent fees (Nole 7.1C)
Manager suppor service provider fees (Mate 7.2E)
Agenl member company fees (Mote 7.2F)
Total expenses

Expense raimbursemant (Mot 2.5)
Operating {loss)profit

Total comprehensive (loss)iincome (being (decreasellincrease in net
ssgets attributable to the holders of units from operations)

For the period from
Septembar 24, 2020
{(commencament of
operations) to
_August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021
5 104,724 § 68,872
(24 487) 3,288
(210,253) 40,772
142 25
{120.874) 112 865
58,160 51,347
48,767 24,706
36,308 58,3231
24,865 23.514
16,539 4 481
16,538 4 481
13,568 12627
12,154 10,754
8,920 9233
1,013 BOS
1,03 BOS
237 846 202 258
{171,817} (166,412)
(186,103) 77,118
i (196,103) g 77,118

1"This relates to nel income from Anancial Instruments measured al falr value thraugh profil or loss (FVTPLY) incleding realized and
unreslized gainsfiosses) on fnancial assels and liabiliies at fair value through profit or loss, realized gain on foreign currency and

Interast income,

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these financial siatements.
2
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Statement of Changes In Equity
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

(Expressed in Australian Dollars)

At September 24, 2020 {Commencement of Oparations) s =
Issue of units (Mole 3) 13,241,346
Repurchases of units (MNote 2.8, 3) [2,644.641)
Total comprehensive income (being increase in nel assels

gitributable to the holders of unils fromoperations) 77118
At August 31, 2021 . § 10,873,824
lasue of units (Mole 3) 1,378,701
Repurchases of unils (Mote 2.8, 3) (2.969.218)
Total comprehensive loss (being decrease in nat assats

altribastable to tha holders of units from oparatians) {196,103}

At August 31, 2022 $ 8 887,206

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesa financial statements.
3
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022
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(Expressed in Australian Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Tolal comprehensive (loss)income (being (decreasa)increase in net
assets aliribulable to the holdar of wnits from operations)

Adjustments la reconcle comprehensive (lossiincoma (being
(decreaselfincrease in ned assels atiributable {o the holders of unils
from aperations) to cash provided by operafing activities:
Purchases of financizl assels at fair value through profit or loss
Procesds from disposition of financlal assats at fair value through
proflt or loss
Mot (payments) from sedlement of fonward contracts
Med realized lossf(gain) on financial assets and Eabilities at fair value

through profit or loss
Mel change in unrealized depreciation/{appreciation) an financial
assels and liabilities at fair valve through profit or loss

Accretion of investmenis in securilies
Amortization of invesiments in securiliss
Decreasedincrease) in receivables for interest
Decreaselincrease) in receivables for expanse reimbursement
Dacreasal{increase) In other assets
Increasa in payables for securifies purchased
Increase In ofher payables!™
Mat cash provided byl{usad in) operating activities

Cash flows fram financing activities:
Proceads from unils ssuad, net of change in recefvables for units
issued
Repurchases of unids, nat of change in payables for units repurchased

Met cash (used inMprovided by financing activities
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at baginning of year (Note 2.1}
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Nota 2.1)

Supplementary informatlon on cash flows from operating aclivities
Inferest recaived

Far the period from
Septembar 24, 2020

{commancement of
operations) to
August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021

§ {196,103) - 77119
(3,132,593} (15,816,002)

4,428,536 5569511

(142) (25)

24,487 (3,206)

240,253 (40,772)
(320) {27}

120,186 181,963
12,891 (53,148)
24,765 (40,401}
23,248 {107,531)

382,364 =

31,387 40,655
1,026,050 (10,181,954}

1,233,712 13,235,174
(2,967,833) (2.644.641)

{1,734 121) 10,540,533

184,838 408,574

_A08,579 -

5 503,517 i A8 570
i 117,718 5 15,725

" Other payables comprise of payables for professional fees, administralor fees, cuslody fees, fee agen! fees, transfer agent fees,
distribulion fees, printing fees, invesiment management fees, agent member company fees and manager suppor senvica provider fees

as disclosed in the Statement of Finencial Position,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
4
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Motes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

{Expressed in Australian Dollars)

1. ORGANIZATION

AUD Short Term Bond Fund (the "Series Trust’) is a Serles Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) Il (the
“Truet’), an open-ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a Master Trust Deed dated December 2. 2013 undear Cayman
Islands law. The Series Trust was established pursuant fo a Supplemental Trust Deed dated August 28, 2020 and
executed by Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limifed (the "Trustee”), a rust company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands. The Series Trust commenced operations on September 24, 2020 and will continue until the Final Repurchaze
Day being the earliest practicable repurchase day being the earlier of August 29, 2025 or any subsequent date as
mutually agreed by the Trustes and the Manager, and the earliest practicable repurchase day following the occurrence of
any of the following; the nel asset value ("Mel Assel Value") being the value of its total assels minus its liabilities
including accrued fees and expenses) on any Valuation Day is in respect of AUD Class Units AUD 1,000,000 or less and
on that valuation day or thereafler the Manager determines that all of the units of such class of units should be
compulsorily repurchased by giving notice to all unitholders, or the Truslee and the Manager agree that all of the units of
such clags of units should be compulsorily repurchased, each a “Compulsory Repurchase Event”.

The Trust is an exempled unil trust undar the Trusts Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and registered under the
Mutual Funds Act {(Revised) of the Cayman Islands on January 22, 2014,

The principal office for the Trustes (and therefore the Series Trust) is One Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman
KY 19005, Cayman lslands,

On December 6, 2021, Corporation Servica Company ("CSC") announced that a conditional agreement had been
reached on a recommended public offer for all issued and oulstanding ordinary shares of which the Trustee is a wholly
ewned subsidiary. CSC and Intertrust Group anticipate that the transaction will close in the second half of 2022, subject
to customary closing conditions and regulatory approvals.

The manager of the Series Trust is Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (the "Manager”).

The Administrator, Custodian and Transfer Agent of the Series Trust is Brown Brothers Harfiman & Co,
{the “Administrator”, "Custodian” and “Transfer Agent”).

Credit Suisse Internalional acls a5 the Fee Agent (the *Fee Agent’).
Credit Suisse Securities (Japan) Limited acts as the Agent Member Company (the “Agent Member Company™).
The Investment Manager of the Series Trust is Daiwa Asset Management (Europe) Lid. (the “Investment Manager”).

The Manager Support Servica Provider of the Series Trust is Daiwa Asset Management Co. Lid. (the "Manager Support
Service Provider”).

Effeclive February 15, 2021, the Manager authorized Tokai Tokyo Securities Co., Ltd. to act as a distributor of the units
in Japan. Effective February 3, 2021, the Manager autherized Chibagin Securilies Co., Lid. to act as a distributor of the
units in Japan. Effective January 19, 2021, the Manager authorized Kyushu FG Securities, Inc. o acl as a distributar of
the unils in Japan. Effective January 18, 2021, the Manager autharized Toyo Securities Co., Lid. to actas a distributor of
the units in Japan. Prior to January 18, 2021, the Manager autharized Marusan Securities Cao., Lid. to acl as a dislributor
of the units in Japan. The Manager may appoint further distributors of the Units in the future {each a "Distributor” and
collectively the *Distributors®).

The Serias Trust is denominated in Australian Doflar (“AUD" or “$") and AUD Class Units are also denominated in
Australian Dollar,

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to maintain a high degree of liquidily while providing slable income by
investing in Australian Dollar denominated high quality fixed and floaling rate debt instruments (the “Australian Bonds®
and those securities selectad by the Investment Manager being the "Selected Bonds"). The Series Trust may also hald
AUD cash and AUD-denominated meney markat securities {including but not limited to commercial paper, cerlificates of
deposit and government bills) (the “Short-Tarm Instruments”, together with the AUD cash and Selecled Bonds being the

“Partfolic”},

The Investment Manager shall have day-to-day investment decision-making and ongoing moniloring responsibility over
the Porlfolio.
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On December 6, 2021, Corporation Service Company ("CS5C") announced thal a conditional agreement had been
reached on a recommended public offer for all issued and outstanding ordinary shares of Intertrust Group of which the
Trustee is a whelly owned subsidiary. CSC and Inlerlrust Group anticipate that the transaction will close in the second
half of 2022, subject lo customary closing cenditions and regulatory approvals.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Trustee on December 16, 2022,
2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUMNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set oul below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless othenvise stated. The financial stataments
have been prepared in accardance with Infernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by tha Intemational
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The preparation of inancial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of
cartain critical accounting estimates and requires the Trustee and the Manager to exercise their judgment in the process
of applying the Series Trust's accounting policies. Areas where assumplions and estimates are significant to the financial
staternents are disclosed in Mote 4. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Series Trusl has adopled Inveslment Enlities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27) (2012) (the
Amendments). Management concluded that the Series Trust meets the definilion of an investment enlity.

Classification and measuremant of financial assets and financial liabilities
IFRS 9 containg three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value
through profit and loss (FVTPL) and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOGH). The classificalion of

financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business medel in which a financial asset is managed and ils
contractual cash flow characteristics.

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amorlized cost if it meets both of the fallowing conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

i) It is held within a business madel whose objective is to hold assets la collect contractual cash flows; and,

iij s contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely represent payments of principal
and interest (SPPI}).

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if any of the following apply:

i) Its contractual terms do not give rise lo cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI) on the principal amount cutstanding;

iiy It is not held within & business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or lo balh
collact contractual cash flows and sell;

iii) At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured al FVTPL when doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases,

In assessing whether the contraclual cash flows are SPPI, the Serles Trusl considers the contractual terms of the

instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset conlains a confractual term thal could change the timing
oF amaunt of contractual cash fews such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series

Trust considers:
= conlingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;
- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit tha Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assats {e.g. non-recourss features); and
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- features thal modify consideration of the lime value of money (e.g. periadical reset of interast rates).
The Series Trust has determined that it has bwo business maodals,

- Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents, other assats, receivables for
interast, expense reimbursement and units issued. These financial assets are held to collect confractual cash
flaw.

- Other business model: this includes financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. These financial assels
are managad and their performance is avaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

In making an assessment af the objective of the business model in which a financial asse! is held, the Series Trust
considers all of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:

-the decumentad invesiment strategy and the execulion of this strategy in practice. This includes whether the
investment strateqy focuses on eaming contraciual interest income, maintaining a particular inlerest rate profile,
matching the duration of the financial assels to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outfiows or
realizing cash flows through the sale of the assels;

- how the performanca of the portfolio Is evaluated and reported to the Series Trust's management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model} and how those risks are managed;

- how the Investment manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation Is based on the fair value of the
assels managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not quelify for derecognition are nol considered sales
for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's continuing recognition of the assats.

Financial liabilities earried al amortized cost include bank overdraft, payables for professional fees, administrator fees,
custody fees, fee agent fees, transfer agent fees, distribution fees, investmenl management fees, agent member
company fees and manager support service provider fees,

Impairment of financial assets

The “expected credit loss® (ECL) model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost and debt investment at
FVOCI, but not to invesiments in equity instruments.

Based on the Series Trusl's assessment, the ECL model does not have a material impact on the Series Trust's financial
assels because:

- The majority of the financial assels are measured at FVTPL and the impairment requirements do not apply 1o such
instruments.

- The financial assets at amartized cost are shart-term (i.e. no longer than 12 months), of high credit quality andfor highly
collateralized. Accordingly, the ECLs on such assels are expected to be small.

Mew standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the year ended August 31, 2022:

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after Seplember 1,
2021 and earier application is pemmitted; however, the Series Trust has not early applied these new or amendad
standards in preparing these financial statements as they do not have a material effect on the Series Trust's financial

statements.
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2.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Series Trust considers all cash, foreign cash and shorl-tarm deposils with original malurity of three months or lass to
be cash and cash equivalents. Bank overdraft is shown in liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

At August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, the Series Trust held the following balances as cash and cash equivalents:

August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021

Cash 5 202 £ -
Tima deposit 603,315 408,623
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position 603,517 408,623
Bank overdraft = (44)
Cash and cash eguivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows 5 603,617 5 408,578

2.2 Financial Assets and Liabilities

{A) Classification
The Seres Trust classifies financial assels and Babilities into the following categories:

Financial assets al fair value through profit or loss:
=" Mandatorily at FVTPL: Investmenits in debt securitias

Financial assets at fair valua through profit or loss consist of the following:

August 31,2022 - August 31, 2022 -

— FairValus Cost
Investments in debl securities ] BA4B 241 % 8617722
August 31, 2021 - August 31, 2021 -
Fair Valug Cost
Investments in debt securities ] 10,098,645 5 10,057 876

Fimancial assets al amortized cost:
" Cash and cash equivalents, other assets, receivables for interest, expanse reimbursement and units issued.

Financial liabilities al amorlized cost:
®  Other liabilities: bank overdraft, payables for printing fees, professional fees, administrator fees, custody fass,
fee agent fees, lransfer agent fees, distribution fees, investment management fees, agent membear company
fees and manager support service provider fees.

{B) Recognition/Derecognition

The Series Trust recognizes financial assets and labilities on the date it bacomes a parly to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the lrade date - the date on which the
Serles Trust commits lo purchase or sell the investment, Financial assels are derecognized when the rights lo recaive
cash flows from the invesimenls have expired or the Series Trust has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial liabilifies are derecognized when its contractual obligations are discharged, canceled or expired.

(G} Measurameant

Financial assets and Fabilities at fair value through profit or loss are inilially recognized at fair value with ransaction costs
recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Inceme. Subsequent to initial recegnition, all financial assels and
liabilities at fair valua through profit or loss are measured at fair value, Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the “inancial assels and liabilities at fair value through prefit or loss' category are presentad in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise. Realized gains or losses on sale of investments are calculated
using first-in-first-out mathod.

Financial assets and liabilties other than those at fair value through profit or loss are carrled at amorlized cost using the

effactive interest rate method, less impairment losses, if any. This is considered lo approximale fair value due to the
short-term or immediate nature of these instruments.
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(D) Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly iraded derivatives and trading securilies)
is based on quoled market prices at the close of trading on the reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid lo fransfer a lability in an orderly transaclion batween markel participants al the
measurement date. The falr value of a liabilily reflects its non-performance risk. Invesiments or other assels for which
markel quolations are not readily available ara valued at their fair value as determined in good faith in accordance with
procedures adopted by the Trustee with advica from the Manager. The resulling change in unrealized gains or losses are
reflected in the Stalement of Comprehensive Income,

(E) Investments in debt securities

The fair value is based on quated market prices on a recognized exchange or sourced from a reputable
brokerfcounterparty, in the case of non-exchange traded instruments, at the Statement of Financial Position date without
any deduction for estimated fulure selling cosls,

2.3 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Einancial assets and liabiities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position only when
there Is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intentian to seftle on a net basis, or
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. As al August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, all financial assels
and liabilities are shown at their gross amounis as none met the criteria for financial instrument offsetling, and therefore
have not been offset in the Statement of Financial Position,

2.4 Receivables for Securities Sold and Payables for Securities Purchased

Receivables for securities sold and payables for securities purchased represent trading transactions that have been
contracted for but not yet setiled on the Statement of Financial Position date. These amounts are recognized initially and
subsequently measured at fair value, less provision for impairment for amounts of receivables for securities sold. A
provision for impairment is established when there is objeclive evidence that the Series Trust will not be able to collect all
amounts of receivables for securities sold. Significant financial difficulties of the broker, probability that the broker will
enter bankruptey or financial reorganization, and defaull in paymenls are considerad indicators that the amount of
racaivables for securities sold is impairad.

2.5 Expenses
Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis in the Stalement of Comprehensive Income.

The maximum fees, costs and expenses (the "Capped Expenses”) that may be deducted from the assets of the Series
Trusl atfribulable to the AUD Class Units is 0.90% per annur of the Net Asset Value (the "TER Cap").

The Investment Manager shall instruct the Administrator on a monthly basis to adjust the TER Cap by monitaring the
yield of the 2-Year Australian Government Bond, The TER Cap fee table is as follows:

2-year Australian Government Bond Yields | TER Cap

Less than or equal to 0.50% 0.40%

Above 0.50% and less than or equal to 0.75% | 0.50%

Above 0.75% and less than or equal 1o 1.00% | 0.680%

Above 1.00% and less than or equal to 1.25% | 0.70%

Above 1,25% 0.90%

Any Capped Expenses of the Series Trust attributable to the AUD Class Units above the TER Cap shall be borne by the
Investmant Manager.

For the avoidanca of doubt, the Capped Expenses:
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{a) include, without limitation, the Operational Cosls Fees, the Invesiment Manager Fees, Audit Fees, Formation
Expenses, Distribution Fees, Administration Fees, Manager Support Service Provider Fees, Guslody Fees,
Agent Member Company Fees, any legal and audiling costs thal are not included in the Audit Fees and
expenses, annual fees payable in respect of the Series Trust or the Trust to government bodies and agencies,
any insurance costs, any cosls relating to the Offering Memorandum and other similar offering dacuments and
the costs ralating to the preparation, printing, iranslation and delivery of such decuments and any taxes relaling
lo the purchase or disposal of securities, legal or compensation costs, licansing, lax reporting, anti-maoney
laundering complisnce and monitoring, expenses relaled to the economic subslance of the Series Trust,
expenses related 1o the termination ar the liquidation of the Series Trust, any costs and olher charges and
expenses listed in the Offering Memorandum (to the extent such costs and expenses do nol constilule the
Ordinary Costs) but excluding litigation and indemnification expenses and any expenses that the Manager
determines to be extraordinary expenses that have not been incurred In the ordinary course of business
{“Extraordinary Expenses”) and any broker fees or commissions (if any) and any issue or iransfer laxes
chargeable in conneclion with any securities transactions ("Broker Expenses®), or that, in the Managers
detemmination, relate to the angeing operation of the Series Trust; and

(b) exclude the Ordinary Costs, Extraordinary Expenses, Broker Expenses and any other exiraordinary or
unanticipated fees, costs, expenses or liabilities that, in the Manager's datermination, would not usually occur.

(c) Extraordinary Expenses, Broker Expenses and Miscellanecus Expenses shall fall outside of the TER Cap and
shall be paid by the Administrator, on behalf of the Trustee, out of the assels of the Series Trust

{d) In the event thal a fee, cost or expense does not fall into either paragraph (a) or (b) above it shall be deemed
not lo be a Capped Expense

fe) The TER Cap is dependent on the Investment Manager fulfilling its obligation to pay the Invesiment Manager
Expanses. In circumstlances where the Invesiment Manager were to default on such obligation, it may not be
possible to maintain the TER Cap which would result in additional fees, costs and expenses being payable out
of the assets of the Serias Trust.

2.6 Forefgn Currency Translation

{A) Functional and Presentation Currency

The performance of the Series Trust is measured and reported fo the investors in Australian Dollars, The Trustes
considers the Australian Dollar as the currency that most faithfully represents |he economic effects of the underlying
transactians, events and eonditions of the Series Trust. The financial stalements are presented in Australian Dollars,
which is the Series Trust's functional and presentafion currency.

(B) Trangactions and Balances
Financial assets and liabilities denominated in forelgn currencies are translaled in Australian Dellar amounts at the dale

af valuation. Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities, issue and repurchase of unils and income and
expense items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Australian Dollar amounts on the respective dates of
such transactions.

Reported net realized or unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from changes in fareign exchange rales
an financial assets and flabilities at fair value through profit or loss are included in net realized gain or loss on financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and net change in unrealized appreciation or dapreciation on
financial aszats and liabilities al fair value through profit or loss in the Stalement of Comprehensive Incomae.

Realized and unrealized appreciation or depreciation from foreign currency transactions and translation are disclosed
gaparately in the Statement of Comprahensive Income.

2.7 Distributions
The current distribution policy of the Series Trust, in respect of AUD Class Unils, is not to make distributions to

Unitholders, Conseguently, all the Series Trusl's net income and realized capital gains will be reinvested and reflected in
the Met Asset Value of the applicable class of Units.

2.8 Repurchases of Units
The Saries Trust has units which are repurchased at the holder's option. The Series Trust classifies its puliable

instruments as liabilities in accordance with 1AS 32 (Amendment) Financlal nslruments: Presentation. The amendmenl

10
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requires pultable financial instruments that meet the definition of a financial llability to be classified as equity where
certain siricl criteria are met. Those criteria include:

®  The puttable instruments must entitke the holder to a pro-rata share of nel assats;

®  The puttable instruments must be the most subordinated class and class fealures must be idenlical;
= There must be no contraciual chligations to deliver cash ar anather financial asset other than the abligation on
tha issuer to repurchase; and

= The total expected cash flows from the puttable instrument over its life must be based substantially on the profit
or loss of the issuer.

As these conditions were mel, the Series Trust's units have been classified as equity at August 31, 2022 and August 31,
2021.

Units can be pul back to the Series Trust at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of the Series Trust's total
aquity.

Units are caried at the repurchased amount that is payable at the Statement of Financial Position date il the holder
exercises the right to put the units back into the Series Trust.

Units are issued and repurchased at prices based on the Series Trust's total equity per unit al the lime of issue or
repurchase. The Series Trust's equity per unil is calculated by dividing the total equity by the total number of outslanding
units, Refer o Mote 3 for further discussion,

2.9 Indemnities
The Trustee and the Manager, on behall of the Series Trust, enter into cerlain contracts thal contain a variely of

indemnifications. The Series Trust's maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown. However, the Series
Trust has not had prior claims of losses pursuant to these contracts and expects the risk of loss to be remole.

2.10 Recelvables for Units Issued and Payables for Units Repurchased
Receivable for units issued is caried al the issuance amount that is receivable at the Statement of Financial Position
date. Payabla for repurchase of units is caried at the repurchase amount that is payable at the Statement of Financial

Pasition dafe.

2.11 Net income/{loss) from financial Instruments at FVTPL

Met income from financial instruments al FYTPL includes realized and unrealized gainfloss on financial assets and
[iabilities at fair value through profit or loss and interest income. MNel realized gain or loss from financial instruments at
EVTPL is calculaled using the first in, first out method. Mel realized gain or loss on financial assets and liabililies at
FVUTPL represents the differance batween the cost of the financial instruments and its settlement price of the sale trads.

Net change in unrealized (depreciation)lappreciation on financial assels and liabilities at FVTPL represents the difference
between the carrying amount of a financial instrument at the beginning of the period, or the transaction price if it was
purchased in the current reporting pariod and its carrying amount at the end of the reporting period. Refer to Note 6 for
further details.

Interast income and expense {(where relevant) is calculated using the effective Inlerest method and recorded on an
aeecrual basis. Interest income and expense presanted in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprise interest on
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at FVTPL.

2,12 Taxation
The Trust has received an undertaking from the Cayman lslands Govarnment exempting it from all local income, profits
and capital gaing until December 2, 2063. No such taxes are levied in the Cayman lslands at the present time.

The Series Trust could incur withholding taxes imposed by certain couniries on investment income and capital gains.
Such income or gain would be recorded gross of withholding laxes in the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
Withholding taxes would be shown as a separate item in the Slatement of Comprehensive Income. No withholding tax
expense was paid for the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the periad from Seplember 24, 2020 (commencement of
operations) to August 31, 2021,

1"

108/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

{Expressed in Australian Doliars)

The Series Trust invests in securilies domiciled in countries other than the Cayman lslands. Many of these foreign
counftries have tax laws which indicate that capital gains taxes may be applicable lo non-residents including the Series
Trust. These capital gains taxes are required to be determined on a self-assessment basis and, therefore, such taxes
may not be deducted by the Series Trust’s broker on a “wilhheolding” basis,

In accardance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Series Trust is reguired o recognize a tax liability when it is probable that
the tax laws of foreign countries reguire a tax lability fo be assessed on the Series Trust's capital gains sourced from
such foreign country, assuming the relevant laxing authorities have full knowledge of all the facls and circumslances. The
tay liability is then measured at the amount expected to be paid to the relevant taxation authorities using the tax laws and

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporiing period. There is sometimes uncertainty
abaut the way enacted tax law is applied lo offshore investment Series Trusts. This creates uncertainty about whelther or
not a tay liability will ultimately be paid by the Series Trust. Therefore, when measuring any uncertain tax liabilities
management considers all of the relevant facls and circumstances available at the time which could influence the
likelihood of payment, including any formal or informal praclices of the relevant tax authorities.

As at August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, the Manager has determined that the Series Trust did not have a liability to
record for any unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying financial statements, While this represents the Manager's
best estimate there remains a risk that the foreign tax autherilies will attermpt to collect taxes on capital gains eared by
fhe Series Trust. Thiz could happen withoul giving prior warning, possibly on a refrospective basis, and could result in a
loss to the Series Trust,

3. REPURCHASES OF UNITS

Tha Mel Asset Value of each unit of the Serles Trust is calculated by dividing the Net Asset Value of the Series Trust by
the total number of units of the Series Trust then oufstanding. The Administrator computes the Net Asset \Walue of the

Series Trusl at the close of business on each dealing day.
The price of unils, for all purposes, is calculaled and paid in Australian Dollars.

The minimum initial subscription must be no lass than 1 unit. The initial purchase price of units is AUD 1 per unit. All
unitholders must completa a subscriplion application.

After the initial issue of units, an eligible investor may subscribe for units on any subsequent subscription data al the
relevant subscription price. All paymenls in respect of AUD Class Unils must be made in Australian Dollar. The Trustes
may refect any subseription for any reason and without providing reasens.

Investors wishing to subscribe for Units of a class of Units on a Dealing Day must send a completed Application Form to
the Administrator by no later than 7.00 p.m. (Tokyo time) on the last day of the Initial Offer Period or 7.00 p.m. (Tokye
time) on the relevan! Dealing Day, respectively, or such other time or times on such day or days as the Manager may, in
its sobe discretion, determine,

The total net assats, units cutstanding and net assets value per unit as of August 31, 2022 were as follows:

Net Asset Value per

Classes of units Total net assats Units sutstanding unit
AUD Class Units $ 8,867,208 Bg92416 & 0.8863

The tofal net assels, unils oulstanding and net assels value per unit as of August 31, 2021 were as follows:

Het Asset Value per

Classes of unils Total net assels Units outstanding unit
AUD Clags Units [ 10,673,524 10605038 S 1.0085

The operational currency of the units is the Ausiralian Dollar.

As of August 31, 2022, all issued units were held by five unitholders, who hold 68.17%, 21.13%, 9.47%, 0.88% and
0.35% of the interest in the net assels, respactively.

As of August 31, 2021, all Issued units were held by five unilholders, who held £1.90%, 17.91%, 13.83%, 5.41% and
1.15% of the interest in the net assels, respectively,
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Unitholders may transfer their holdings in units only with the prior written consent of the Trustee which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No transfer of units will be effeclive and binding on the Trustes or unithalder until
entered inte the Series Trust's registar of unithalders.

Each unithalder may submit to the Trustee or its duly designated agent a repurchase notice requesting to have all or a
portion of its units repurchased at the Repurchase Price on the relevant repurchase date. Repurchase orders may be
submitted in either the relevant currency ar in units. If such notice is not in respect of the entire halding units of such
unitholder recorded in the registar of unitholders then the Trustes In its sole discretion may apply a minimum repurchase
requirement of 1 unit. Repurchase notices are irrevocable,

Al the time of each repurchase of units prior to the Final Repurchase Day, no repurchase fes is applied to each unit
being repurchased,

Amaunts payable to the unitholder in connection with the rapurchase of units of any class is paid in cash but may be
made in kind {or partially in kind) by the distribution of securilies held by the Trustee to the extent that the Truslee, in
consullation with the Manager, determines it to be in the bast interests of the unitholder, If such a determination is made
by ihe Trustee, distributions to all repurchasing unitholder on the same day is made on the same basis,

Paymenl may also be made in such other currency that may be freely purchased with such applicable currency as
a unithalder may request, provided that any foreign exchange cost shall be deducted from the amount payable o such
unithalder. No such repurchase procesds will bear interest prier to actual distribution.

During the year ended August 31, 2022, and for the period from September 24, 2020 (commencement of operalions) to
August 31, 2021, the proceeds from units issued, repurchased and oulstanding were as follows:

At Proceads from units  Proceeds from units At
Classes of units August 31, 2021 issuad rapirchased August 31, 2022
AUD Class Units 3 10,586,705 5 1,378,701 3§ (2968216} § 8,006,180
At Seplember 24, Proceeds from units  Proceeds from unils At
Classes of units 2020 issued repurchased August 31, 2021
AUD Class Units 5 - & 13240246 3 (2644641} % 10,596,705

Curing the year ended August 31, 2022, and for the period from Seplember 24, 2020 {commencemant of operalions) lo
August 31, 2021, the number of units issued, repurchased and outstanding weare as follows:

At At
Classes of uniis August 31, 2021 Units issued Units repurchased August 31, 2022
ALID Class Units 10,605,038 1,383,002 (2,905,624) B.882416

At At
Classes of units Septamber 24, 2020 Units issued Units repurchased August 31, 2021
AUD Class Unils = 13,241,074 (2,636,036) 10,605,038

The issue and repurchase of unils and payments in respect of such transactions will be suspended in any circumstances
where the calculation of the Nel Asset Value per unit is suspended. The Trustee will infarm unitholder of such a
suspension as soon as practicable after it is imposed or lifted, Subscription applications and repurchase nolices cannot
be withdrawn during such suspension and will be processed for the next subscription date or repurchase date, as the

case may be.
4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Managemeant makes esfimates and assumplions concerning the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, Estimates are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and olher faclors, including
expectations of fulure events that are believed to be reasanabla under the circumstances. The resulling accounting
estimatas will, by definilion, seldom equal the related actual results, The Series Trust may, from fime lo time, hold
financial instrumenis that are not qualed in active marketls, such as over-the-counter derivatives. Fair values of such
instruments are determined by using valuation lechniques, Whare valuation techniques (for example, models) are used
to determine falr values, they are valldaled and periodically reviewed by the Manager.
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

{Expressed in Australian Doltars)

6. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

5.1 Principal Risk Factors of the Serles Trust

The Seres Trusts activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The management of these risks is carried out by the Manager under policies
approved by the Trustee.

The Series Trust uses differen! methods lo measure and manage the vancus types of risks to which it is exposed, theze
mefthods are explained below.

(A) Market Risk

(i) Gurrency Risk
Sacurities held by the Series Trust are denominated in Australian Dollars, thus the Manager believes that the Series

Trust has little currency risk exposure, and is not subject lo risk due lo direct fluctuations in the prevailing levels of foreign
currency rates.

{ii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate rsk is {he risk that prices of fixed income sacurilies generally increase when interest rates decline and

decrease when interest rales increase. Prices of longer lerm securities generally change more in response to interest
rate changes than prices of shorter term sacurilies. The Series Trust may lose money if short-term or long-term interest
rates rise sharply or otherwise change in a manner not anticipated by Series Trust management. When interest rates
fluctuate, the duration of the security may be used as an indication of the degree of change in the debt price of the debt
security. The bigger the security’s duration value, the larger the change in the price of the debt secunly for a given
movement in interest rates may be. Therefore, the Net Assel Valus may fluctuate.

The following tables analyze the Series Trust's interes! rate risk exposure. It includes the Series Trust's assets and
liabilities at fair value, categorized by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates,
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{Expressed in Australian Dollars)

Nen-interest

At August 31, 2022 Up to 1 year 1-5years DOwar 5 years bearing Tatal

Assels

Financial assels af fair value through profil or

loss § 2809905 % 5638336 3 - 5 - 5 8,448 241

Cash and cash equivalents 603,517 - - = 603,517

Hher assals - - = 84,283 84,283

Receivables for:
Units issued - - - 181,161 151,161
Interest - - - 40,157 40,157
Expensa raimbursement = - - 15,636 15,635
Total Assels § 3413422 % 5638336 % - % 291,237 -3 8,342,895

Non-interest

At August 31, 2022 Up to 1 year 1-5years Over 5 yaars bearing Tolal

Liabilities

Payables for.
Securities purchased 5 - 3% - & - % 382,364 3 382,364
Professicnal fees - = - 38,781 36,781
Printing fees - - - 18,422 18,422
Distribution fees - - - 5,852 5052
Custody fees = - - 2402 2,402
Transfer agent lees - - - 1,850 1,950
Fee agent fees - - - 1,780 1,780
Invesiment management feas - - - 1,751 1,751
Admbknistrator faes - - - 1,689 1,690
Units repurchased = - - 1,383 1,383
Manager support service provider fees - - - 165 165
Agant member company fees - - - 148 o 149

Liabilities (excluding net assets

attributable to the holder of units) - - - 455,788 458,789

Total interest and sensitivity gap $§ 3413422 5 5638336 § - 5 (164, 652) § 8,887,206
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(Expressed in Australian Dolfars)
Non-nterest
At August 31, 2021 Up to 1 year 1-5 years Ower 5 yaars bearing Tatal
Assols
Financlal assets at fair value through profit or
loss § 280717 5 7590931 % - 5 - § 10,093 648
Cash and cash equivalenis 408,523 - - - 408523
Other assels ™= - = 107,531 107,531
Receivables for:
Interest - - - 53,148 53,148
Expense reimbursement - - - 40,401 40,401
Unillz Issued - - - 6,172 6,172
Total Asscls $ 2916340 5 7.580931 § - 3 207,252 £ 10,714,523
Hon-intarast
At August 31, 2021 _Wp to 1 year 1 -5 years Ovar 5 years bearing Total
Liabilitias
Bank overdrafl -4 44 5 - 5 - & - 5 44
Payables for:
Professional fess - - - 24,707 24,707
Administrator fees - - - 7,267 1.287
Custody faes - - - 2,528 2.528
Fee agenl fees - - = 2,166 2,165
Transfer agant fees - - - 1,723 1,723
Distribution feas - - - 1,574 1,574
Investment managenent fees - - - 423 422
Agenl member company leas - - = 181 181
Manager suppor senvice provider fees - g - a0 80
Liabilities {excluding net assets .
attributabla to the holder of units} 44 - - 40,655 40,688
Total Interest and sensitivity gap $§ 2816206 § 75909831 § - & 186553 § 10673824

Al August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, should interest rates have lowered or risen by 50 basis points with all other
variables remaining constant, the increase or decrease in net assets altributable to the holder of units from operations for
the period would amount to approximately $39,224 and $48,450, respectively assuming that the cash position will be
held for one year. This is caused moslly by the changes in market values of debl securities.

{iii) Market Price Risk

The market price of securities owned by the Series Trust may go up or down, sometimes rapidly or unpredictably.
Securities may decline in value due to factors affecting securilies markets generally or particular indusiries represented in
the securities markets. The value of a sacurity may decline due to general markel condilions which are not specifically
related to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, supply and demand for
parlicular securities or Instruments, changes in the general oullook for corporate eamings, changes in intarest or
currency rates or adverse investor sentiment They may also decline due to factors which affect
a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions
within an industry. During & general downtumn in the securities markets, mulliple asset classes may decline in value
simultaneously. Equity securities ganerally have grealer price volafility than fived income securities,

The tables balow summarize the concenliration in market price risk as al August 31, 2022

Industry Nama Fair Value % of Net Assets
Investment in debt securities
Auto Manufacturars 3 1,085,756 12.4%
Banks 7.030,402 T9.1%
Government 322,083 31.6%
Total investment in debt securities 5 8,448,241 95.1%
Financlal assets at fair value through profit or loas % B.448,241 95.1%
18
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Country Hame Fair Valus % of Net Assets
Investment in debt securities

Agsiralla % 2,464,595 27.8%
Canada 1,145,539 12.9%
France 200 481 2.3%
Garmany 300,459 1.5%
Japan 300,947 3.4%
Multi-tational 322,083 3.8%
Spain 400,728 4.5%
United Kingdam 1,630,457 18.3%
United States 1,673,842 18.8%
Total investmant In debt securities L 8448241 95.1%
Financial assels al fair value threugh prafit or loss 3 8,448,241 85.1%
The tables below summarize the concentration in market price risk as at August 31, 2021:

Industry Hame . Falr Value % of Nat Assats
Investment in debt securlties

Auto Manufaciurers 3 1,463,430 13.7%
Banks 8,304,152 T7.8%
Governmanl 331,066 3.1%
Total investment In debt securities 3 10,098 648 84,6%
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10,098,648 84.6%
Country Name Fair Value %h of Net Assots
Investment In debt securities

Auslralia 3 212281 19.9%
Canada 662,378 6.2%
France 203,574 1.8%
Garmany ErrR ] 3.0%
Japan 662,132 6.2%
Multi-Mational 331,066 3.1%
Spain 811,103 7.8%
Undted Arab Emirales 407 481 3.8%
United Kingdarm 2,339,374 21.9%
United States 2 238 805 21.0%
Total investment in debt securities 5 10,088 648 94.6%
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss H 10,008,846 94,65

As the Series Trusl's invesimenis are carried at fair value with fair value changes recegnized in the Statamant of
Comprehensive Income, all changes in market condilions will directly affect the total net assels and total comprehensive
income.

An Increase in market prices of the invesiments in debt securities of 1% al August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, would,
all else being equal, increase nel assels attributable lo the holder of units by $84,482 and $100,986, respectively. A
decrease of 1% would, all elze being equal, have an equal but opposite affect.

(B} Credit Risk
The Series Trust takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in

full when they fall due,

Changes in an issuer's credit rating or the market's perception of an issuer's creditworthiness may affect the value of the
Series Trust's investment in that issuer. The degree of credit risk depends on both the financial condition of tha issusr

and the terms of the obligation.

Al transactions in listed securities are seliledipaid for upon delivery using approved brokers, The risk of default is
consldared minimal, as delivery of securilies sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made
on a purchase once the securilies have been received by the broker, The trade will fail if either party fails to meel thair

obligation.

The Investment Manager monitors the Series Trust's credit position on an an-going basis,

The maximum exposure to credit risk of all financial assels at August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021 Is the carrying
amounts as shown on the Statement of Financial Posliion. Mo collateral or other credit enhancements are held by the
Series Trust. None of these assats are impaired or past due.
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{Expraszed in Ausiralian Dollars)

Al August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021 the clearing and depository operations for the Series Trusl's security
transactions are mainly concentrated with the Custedian, with a Fitch raling of A+ Al August 31, 2022 and August 31,
2021, substantially all cash and cash equivalents and invesiments are placed in custody with the Custodian.

The Series Trust's policy to manage this risk is lo invest in debi securilies thal have an invesiment grade
by a well-known rating agency, Moody's. The Series Trust may also invest in unrated assets where a raling is assigned
by the investment advisor using an approach that is consistent with the approach used by that raling agency.

The fallowing table summarizes the credit quality of the Series Trusl's debt portfolio at August 31, 2022 as a percanlage
of nat assets.

Rating* % of Net Assets

Apa 36%
Aad 12.7%
Al 24.0%
Az 11.2%
Al 27.6%
Baal 6.8%
Baal 8.2%

85.1%

“Security ratings, if any, are ohtained from Moody sfS&P’s Invesior Service.

The fallawing table summarizes the credit quality of the Series Trust's debl porifolio at August 31, 2021 as a parcentage
of net assels.

Rating* % ol Net Assels

Aaa 3.1%
Al 20.4%
Al 20.8%
Al 26.8%
Baail 13.3%
Baa2 10.2%

94.6%

*Securily ratings, If any, are oblained from Moody s/S&P's Investor Senvice,

(G} Liquidity Risk

Liguidity risk exists when particular investiments are difficult to purchase or sell. The Series Trust's investments in illiquid
securities may reduce the refurns of the Series Trust because it may be unable to sell the Miguid securities
at an advantageous lime or price. To the extent thal the Series Trust's principal investment strategias involve non-
developed country securities, derivatives or securilies with substantial market andior credit risk, the Series Trust will tend
lo hava the greatest exposure to liguidity risk.

The tables below analyze the Series Trust's financial liabllities info relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining
period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the tables are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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At August 31, 2022 Less than 1 month 1 - 3 months Tatal
Payables for:
Securities purchased 3 382,364 5 - 3 382,364
Pralassional faas 36,781 = 36,781
Printing fees 10,422 - 19,422
Distribution fees 5,962 - 5,952
Custody fess 2402 - 2,402
Transfer agent fees 1,860 - 1.450
Fae agenl faes 1,780 - 1,780
Investment managemant fees 1,751 - 1,751
Administrator fees 1,680 - 1,680
Unlis repurchased 1,383 - 1,383
Manager support sarvice provider fees 165 = 165
ent member company fees 143 - 149
Contractual cash out flows 3 455788 & - % 455,789
At August 31, 2021 Less than 1 month 1 - 3 months Total
Bank overdrafl 5 44 5 - 5 44
Payablee for:
Professional feas 24,707 - 24,707
Adminksirator fees 7.267 - 7,287
Custody faes 2,525 - 2,525
Fee agent fees 2,166 - 2,166
Tranafer agent fees 1,723 - 1,723
Distribution fees 1,574 - 1,574
Invesimend management fees 422 - 412
Agent member company fees 181 - 181
Manager suppor] senvice provider fees a0 - a0
Contractual cash out flows H 40698 & = [ 40,599

Units are repurchased on demand at the holder's option. However, the Truslee does not envision that this contraciual
maturity disclosed will be representative of the actual cash oulflows, as holders of these instruments typically retain them
far the medium fo long tarm.

The Manager menitors the Series Trust's liquidily position on an on-gaing basis.
Liguidity risk is managed by investing no more than 15% of the Net Asset Value in illiquid assets.

(D) Risk Management

The Saeries Trust's Invesiment Manager's team is supported by certain risk management syslems and professionals,
which provide regular reporling on all porifolio positions and guantitalive risk measures. Prospective investors should be
aware that no risk management system is fail-safe, and no assurance can be given that risk frameworks employed by the
Manager (e.g., stop-win, stop-loss, sharpe ralios, loss limits, value-at-risk or any other methodaology now known or later
developed) will achieve their objectives and prevent or otherwise limit substantial losses, No assuranca can be given that
the risk management systems and techniques or pricing models will accurately predict future trading pattarns or the
manner in which invesiments are priced in financial markets in the future.

(E) Capital Risk Management

The capital of the Series Trust is represented by the net assets attributable 1o the holder of units. The amount of net
assels attribulable to the halder of units can change significantly on a daily basis as the Series Trust is subject to daily
subscriptions and repurchases at the discrelion of the unitholder. The Series Trust's objactive when managing capital Is
to safeguard the Series Trust's ability to conlinue as a going concern in order to provide relurns for the unitholder and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment
activities of the Series Trust. In order to maintain or adjust the capiial structure, the Series Trusls policy is to perform the
fallowing:

®  Monitor the level of daily subscriptions and repurchases relative lo the liquid assets and adjust the amount of

distributions the Series Trust pays to the holder of units.
" Repurchase and issue new units in accordance with the constitutional documents of the Series Trust.

The Manager menitors capital on the basis of the value of net assels altributable to the holder of units.
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2022
{Expressed in Australian Dollars)

£.2 Additional Series Trust's Risks

{A) Custady Risk
Meither the Trustee nor the Manager controls the custedianship of the Serdes Trust's entire holding of securilies. The
Custodian or other banks or brokerage firms selecled to act as cuslodians may become insohvent, causing the Series

Trust in lose all ar a porlion of the funds or securities held by those custodians.

{B) Risk of Indemnification
The Trustee, the Manager, the Administrator, the Cuslodian, and other parlies, and each of their respective agenfs,
principals, officers, employees, and affiliates are enlitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Series Trust under

certain circumstances which may result in a decrease in Net Asset Value per unil.

(C) Settlemant Risk
Saitlement and clearance procedures in certain foreign markets differ significantly from those in the United States, the

European Union and Japan. Foreign setflement and clearance procedures and trade regulations alsa may involve certain
rizks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not typically associated with the settlemant of United States
investments, Al times, selflements in certain foreign countries have not kept paca with the number of securilies
fransactions. These problems may make il difficult for the Manager to carry out transactions for the account of the Series

Trust

If the Manager cannot setle or is delayed in sellling a purchase of securities, it may miss allractive investment
opporiunities and certain of the Series Trust's assels may be uninvested with no retum earned thereon for some year, If
the Manager cannot gettle or is delayed in setfling a sale of securities, the Series Trust may lose maoney if the value of
the security then daclines or, if it has contracted to sell the securily to another party; the Series Trust could be liable for
any losses incurred,

{D}) Counterparty and Broker Risk
The financial institutions and counterparties, including banks and brokerage firms, such as the Custedian, with which the

Manager or its delegate trades or invests for the account of the Series Trust, may encounter financial difficulties and
default on their raspective obligations owed in respect of the Series Trust. Any such defaull could resull in materal losses
to the Series Trust In addition, the Manager may pledge collateral for the account of the Series Trust to the
counterparties in order to secure certain transactions. No collateral was pledged by the Manager during the year ended
August 31, 2022 and for the period from September 24, 2020 (commencement of aperations) to August 31, 2021,

The Series Trust has nat offset any financial assels or liabilifies in the Statement of Financial Position and did not hold
any derivaliva assels.

(E) Concantration Risk
The Investment Manager will invest substantially all of the proceeds from the sale of the Units in the Selected Bonds and
therefora losses incurred by the Selected Bonds will have a material adverse effect on the Series Trust's overall financial

pasition.

{F} Risk of investing In Australian Bonds

Exposure to instruments of issuers may involve significant economic and political risks. By invesling in Australian Bonds,
the Series Trust will be exposed to the direct or indirect consequences of political, social and economic changes in
Ausiralia. Pelitical changes may affect the willngness of the Australian issuers to make or provide for fimely payments of
their debt obligations. The country's and local economic status, es reflected, among other things, in its inflation rate, the
amount of its external debt and its gross domestie product, will alsa affect the local issuers' ability to hanor their

obligations,

{G} No Interest in the Salected Bonds
Any return an the Units depends, amongst other things, on the perfarmance of the Selected Bonds. An investment in

Units does not give a Unitholder a direct interest in the Seleclad Bonds.

{H) Early Termination of the Series Trust

Although the Final Repurchase Day of the Series Trust is scheduled for August 29, 2025, the Final Repurchase Day wil
be brought forward should a Compulsory Repurchase Evant cccur.

5.3 Fair Value Estimation and Hierarchy Designation

The Series Trust applies IFRS 13, "Fair value measurement and ulilizes the last traded markel price for ils fair valuation
inputs for bath financial assets and liabilities.

0

117/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Motes to Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

{Expressed in Australian Dollars)

An active market is a markel in which transaclions for the assel or liability take place with sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongaing basis.

The fair value of financial assets and liabiliies that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniguas. The Series Trust uses a variely of methods and makes assumptions thal are based on markel condilions
existing at each period end date. Valuation fechniques used for non-standardized financial instruments such as aplions,
currency swaps and other over-the-counter derivatives, include the use of comparable recent arm’s length transactions,
referance to other instrumeants that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, opfion pricing models and
other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs and relying
as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Far instruments for which there is na active market, the Series Trust may use Internally developed models, which are
usually based on valuation methods and techniquas generally recognized as standard within the industry. Seme of the
inputs 1o these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on assumplions.
The ocutput of a model is always an eslimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with cartainty, and
valuation lechnigues employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant o the positions the Series Trust hokds. Valuations
are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risk, fquidity risk and
counterparty risk.

The Serlas Trust classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflecls the significance of the inputs
usad in making the measuremants.

The fair value hiararchy has the following lavels:

= Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assels or liabilities that the ently
can access al the measurement dale;

" Lewvel 2 inputs are inputs other than quoled prices included within Leval 1 thal are cbservable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

®  Level 3 inpuls are unobservable inputs for the assel or lability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety s determined on
the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpase, the
significance of an Inpul Is assessed against the fair value measurement In its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses
gbearvable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservabla inputs, that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the significance of a paricular input to the fair value measuremant in its enlirely requires
judgment, considering faclors specific to the asset or liability.

The delermination of what conslitutes ‘abservable’ requires significant judgment by the Administrator, under advisement
of the Manager, The Adminisirator, under advisement of the Manager, considers observable data lo be that market dala
that is readily available, regularly distribuled or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by
independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The following is a summary of the fair valuations according to the inputs used as of August 31, 2022 in valuing the Series
Trusl’s financial assels held for trading:

(Unadjusted)
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
ldentical Significant Other Significant

Financlal Assets Designated at Fair Investiments  Observable Inputs  Unobservable Fair Valua at
Value Through Profit or Loss {Level 1) (Lovel 2) Inputs (Level 3)  Auvgust 31, 2022
Investment in debl securilies 5 - % 448241 § - % 8,448,241
Financial assets, at fair value through

profit ar loss $ - & 8448241 & - % 8,448,241

The following is a summary of the fair valuations according lo the inpuls used as of August 31, 2021 in valuing the Series
Trust's financial assets hald for trading:

21

118/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Notes to Financial Statements {continued)
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

{Expressed in Australian Dolars)

{Unadjusted)
Quoted Prices In
Active Markets for
ldentical Significant Othar Significant

Financial Assets Designated at Fair Investments  Observable Inputs  Unobservable Fair Value at
Value Through Profit or Loss [Lavel 1) {Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)  August 31, 2021
Invstment in debt securiies 3 - 5§ 10098645 £ - % 10,088,648
Financial assets, at fair value through

profit or loss 3 - 3% 1{o,098543 & - & 40,098,648

During the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from September 24, 2020 (commencemant of operations) ko
August 31, 2021, there were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3,

Financial instruments that trade in markets thal are not considered to be active but are valued based on guoted market
prices, dealer quotations or altemative pricing sources supporled by observable inputs are classified within Level 2.
These include over-the-counter derivatives and debt securities, As Level 2 investments include positions that are not
traded In active markels andior are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity andfor
nan-iransferability, which are generally based on available market informatian.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequantiy.
Ag of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, the Series Trust did not hold investments classified as Level 3.

Financial aszets and liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss

(i) At August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, cash and cash equivalents and all other assets and liabilities
(including olher assets, receivables for interast, expanse reimbursement and unils issued, bank overdraft and
payables for securities purchased, unils repurchased, professional fees, administrator fees, custody fees, fee
agent fees, transfer agent fees, distribulicn fees, investment management fees, agent member company fres
and manager support service provider fees) are deemed shori-lerm financial assets and liabililes whose
carrying amounts approximate fair value because of their short-term nalure. Refer to Note 2 far a description of
the valuation techniques.

(i) Metassets attributable to the holder of unils. The Series Trust repurchases and issues the units at the amount
equal to the proportfionate share of net assels of the Series Trust at the time of repurchase, calculated on a
basis consistent with that used in these financial statements. Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assels
attributabla to the holder of unils approximatas thair fair value.

6. NET (LOSS)/GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021

Met (lossMgain om financial assats and Kabilities at falr value
through profit and loss consist of the following:

Mat realized {loss)igain on invastmenis in debt securities 5 (24.345) 3 3321
Met realized (loss) on investmeants in forward confracts {142) {25)
Taolal net realized (loss)gain on financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss 5 {24487) § 3,208

Movement in net unrealized (depreclation)/apprecialion on
invastments in debl securilies & (210283 & 40,772

7. FEES, EXPENSES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
7.1 Fees and Expenses

(A) Administrator Fees

The Administrator receives an annual fee of 0.07% on the first US$500 million of net assels, 0.06% on the next US$500
million of the net assets and 0,05% on the nel assets over US$1 billion, subject to a menthly minimum fee of $3,750. The
fees eamed by the Administrator during the year anded August 31, 2022 and for the period from Seplember 24, 2020
{commencament of operations) to August 31, 2021, and outstanding fees payable to the Administrator as of August 31,
2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Slatement of

Financial Position, respectively.
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

(Expressed in Australian Dollars)

(B) Custody Fees

The Custodian will receive a fee of 0.03% per annum of the Met Asset Value accrued on and calculated as at each
valuation day, payable monthly in arrears. The fees earned by the Custedian during the year ended August 31, 2022 and
for the pericd from September 24, 2020 (commencement of operalions) to August 31, 2021, and culstanding fees
payable to the Custadian as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Statement of
Comprehansive Income and the Statement of Financial Position, respectively.

{C) Transfer Agent Fees

The Transfer Agent receives an annual fee of 0.01% of nel assets and a $10 fee per transaction. The fees earned by the
Transfar Agent during the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from Seplember 24, 2020 {(commencement of
operalions) to August 31, 2021, and oulstanding fees payable to the Transfer Agent as of August 31, 2022 and Augusl
31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Stalement of Financial Position,

respeclively.

(D) Professional Fees

Professional fees include legal and audit fees. The fees paid during the year ended August 31, 2022 and far the period
fram Seplember 24, 2020 (commencement of operations) to August 31, 2021, and oulstanding fees payable as of August
31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of
Financial Position, respectively.

(E) Distribution Fees

The Distribulors receive a fee of up to and including 0.30% per annum of the Net Assat Value accrued on and calculated
as at each valuation day multiplied by the fraction of units of such class for which the Distributors are unilholders divided
by the total number of units issued in respect of such class of unils, and payable menthly in amears (the "Distribution

Fees™).

The Distribution Fees may be adjusted and notified by the Investment Manager to the Administrator on a monthly basis in
accordance with the Distribution and Repurchase Agreement and are linked to the 2-year Australian Government Bond

Yields as shown in table below,

2-year Australian Government Bond Yields D":,ff:;‘::;“’
{per annum of the Net Asset Value)
Less than or equal w 0.50% 0.05%
Above 0.50% and less than or equal (o 0.75% 0.10%
Above 0.75% and less than or equal to 1L.00% 0.15%
Above 1.00% and less than or equal to 1.25% 0.20%
Above 1.25% 0.30%

The Distribution Fees are payable by the Administrator, on behalf of the Manager, out of the assets of the Series Trust.
The fees earned by the Distributors during the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from September 24, 2020
fcommencement of operalions) to August 31, 2021, and outstanding fees payable to the Distribulors as of August 31,
2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprahensive Income and the Statement of
Financial Position, respectively.

7.2 Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decigions. The Trustee, Fee Agent, Manager and Agent Member
Company are all related parties to the Series Trust.

Thera wara no other transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of business.
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Motes to Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

(Expressed in Auslralian Doliars)

(A} Trustee Fees
The Trustee receives a fixed annual fee of US$10,000 per annum payable annually in advance out of the Operational

Cosls Fes.

(B} Fee Agant Fees

The Fes Agent receives an annual fae of 0.12% of Net Assets \alue (the "Operalional Cosls Fees"), accrued on and
calculated as al each valuation day, The Operational Cosls Fees are paid by the Administrator, on behalf of the Trusles
cut of the assets of the Series Trust. The fees earned by the Fee Agent during the year ended August 31, 2022 and for
the peried from September 24, 2020 (commencament of operations) to August 31, 2021, and culstanding fees payable to
the Fae Agent as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Stalement of Comprehansive
Income and the Statement of Financial Pasition, respectively.

The Fee Agent is responsible for paying the Manager Fees, the Trustee Fees and costs and expenses, which are, in the
reasonable judgement of the Fee Agent, determined as associated costs and expenses of the Manager Fees and

Trustes Feas (the "Ordinary Costs"),

Faor the avoidance of doubl, the Fee Agent is not responsible for the payment of the capped expenses, extraordinary
expenses, broker expenses or miscellaneous expenses. Capped expenses will be paid by the Adminisirator, on behalf of
the Trustee, out of the assets of the Series Trust up to and including the TER Cap, and any Capped Expenses above the
TER Cap will be borne by the Investment Manager. Extraordinary Expenses, Broker Expenses and Miscellaneous
Expenses fall outside of the TER Cap and shall be paid by the Administrator, on behalf of the Trustes, out of the assels
of the Series Trusl

To the extent that the Operafional Costs Feas do nol cover the Ordinary Costs, the Fee Agent will be liable for any
outstanding amounts. Any amounis remaining following payment of the Ordinary Cosls will be retained by the Fee Agent
as its remuneration for acting as fee agent in respect of the Series Trust,

The Operational Cosls Fess will be payable quarterly in arrears in the amount accrued from and excluding, for the first
accrued period anly, the Initial Closing Day, and for all other accrued periods, the last day of each calendar quarter, each
baing a "Fee Calculation Day", to and including, for all but the |ast acerual period, the next Fee Calculation Day, and for
the last accrual period, the Final Repurchase Day or if such day is not also a Valuation Day then the immediately
preceding Valuation Day (the "Final Valuation Day”).

For the avoidance of doubt, should the Final Valuation Day nol also be a Fee Calculation Day, the last accrual period
sheall end on the Final Valuation Day.

{C) Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the Operational Costs Fee, a management fee of US35,000 per annum payable monthly in

arrears.,

{D) Investment Management Fees

The Investment Manager receives a fee of up o and including 0.30% per annum of the Net Asset Value accruad on and
calculated as at each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears. The Invesiment Manager Fees will be paid by the
Adminisirater, on behalf of the Trustee, out of the assels of the Series Trust.

The Investment Management Fees may be adjusted and notified by the Invesiment Manager to the Administrator on a
monthly basis in accordance with the Invesiment Management Agreament and are linked to the 2-year Australian
Government Bond Yields as shown in lable below.
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AUD Short Term Bond Fund
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended August 31, 2022

(Expressed in Australian Dollars)

S

2-year Australian Government Bond Yields Percentage
(per annum of the Net Asset Value)

Less than or equal to 0.50% 0L05%
Above 0.50% and less than or equal to 0.75% 0. 10"a
Above 0.75% and less than or equal to 1.00% 0.15%
Above 1.00% and less than or equal to 1.25% (. 20%
Above 1.25% 0.30%

The fees earmed by the Investment Manager during the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from Seplember
24, 2020 (commencement of operations) to August 31, 2021, and outstanding fees payable fo the Invesiment Manager
as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the
Statement of Financial Position, respectively.

{E) Manager Support Service Provider Feas

The Manager Support Service Provider Fees receives an annual fee of 0.01% per annum of the Net Asset Value acerued
on and calculated as at mach valuation day and payable monthly in arrears. The Manager Support Service Provider Fees
are paid by the Administrator, on behalf of the Trustee, out of the assels of the Series Trust, The fees samed by the
Manager Support Service Provider Fees during the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from September 24,
2020 (commencement of cperations) la August 31, 2021, and outstanding fees payable to the Manager Support Service
Provider Fees as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021, have been disclosed in the Stalement of Comprehensive
Income and the Statement of Financial Position, respectively.

{F) Agent Membar Company Fees

The Agent Member Company receives a fae of 0.01% per annum of the Net Assel Value accrued on and calculated as at
each valuation day and payable quarferly in arears. The Agenl Member Company Fees are paid by the Administrator,
on behalf of the Manager out of the assets of the Series Trust. The fees eamed by the Agent Member Company during
the year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from September 24, 2020 {commencement of operalians) to August
31, 2021, and oulstanding fees payable to the Agent Member Company as of August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021,
have been disclosed in the Statemant of Comprehensiva Income and the Statement of Financial Position, respeciively,

8. BORROWING AND LEVERAGE POLICY

The Seres Trust may borrow up to 10% of its Mat Asset Value if required to facilitate short term cash flows. During the
year ended August 31, 2022 and for the period from September 24, 2020 (commencement of operatiens) to August 31,
2021, lhe Series Trust did not incur any borrawings.

9, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Trusiee has evaluated all subsequent lransactions and events through December 18, 2022, the date on which these
financial statements ware available to be issued, Effeclive September 1, 2022 through December 16, 2022, there were

subscriptions of $759,082 and repurchases of $413,810. There are no other subsequent events lo report as relates to
the Series Trust,

On November 7, 2022, GSC and Inlertrust Group announced that CSC will complete their acquisition of Intertrust Group
after receiving all necessary regulatory and stakeholder approvals and satisfying all conditions of the offer,

5
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2022 12
9,386,910 840,785,529
80,020 7,167,391
9,306,890 833,618,127
9,351,076
0.9953 89
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2022 12 735,000 9,753
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2022 12

1,628,217,323
8,638,977
13 79,709,189
75,178,180,631
565,534,460
25 148,774,822,292
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2020 2020 12 31 2021 2021
12 31
22 38
59 131
23 103
2022 12 30
132.70
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2021 2020

UsD usD
1,541 204 16,025 2,127
1,541 204 16,025 2,127
4 1,541 204 16,025 2,127
5 210,000 27,867 220,000 29,194

4 1
211,545 28,072 236,025 31,321
6 (111,758) (14,830) (111,476) (14,793)
99,787 13,242 124,549 16,528
99,787 13,242 124,549 16,528
7

99,787 13,242 124,549 16,528
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2021 12 31

2021 2020

usb usD
9 1,759,688 233,511 1,643,796 218,132
10 210,863 27,982 220,970 29,323
1,970,551 261,492 1,864,766 247,454
10 223,931 29,716 217,933 28,920
223,931 29,716 217,933 28,920
11 735,000 97,535 735,000 97,535
1,011,620 134,242 911,833 121,000
1,746,620 231,776 1,646,833 218,535

1,970,551 261,492 1,864,766 247,454
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2021 12 31
usD usD usD
2021
735,000 97,535 911,833 121,000 1,646,833 218,535
99,787 13,242 99,787 13,242
12 31 735,000 97,535 1,011,620 134,242 1,746,620 231,776
2020
735,000 97,535 787,284 104,473 1,522,284 202,007
124,549 16,528 124,549 16,528

12 31 735,000 97,535 911,833 121,000 1,646,833 218,535
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2021 12 31
2021 2020

UsD usD
99,787 13,242 124,549 16,528
4 (1,541) (204) (16,025) (2,127)
98,246 13,037 108,524 14,401
10,107 1,341 (3,543) (470)
10,107 1,341 (3.,543) (470)
5,998 796 86,604 11,492
5,998 796 86,604 11,492
4 1,541 204 16,025 2,127
115,892 15,379 207,610 27,550
115,892 15,379 207,610 27,550
1,643,796 218,132 1,436,186 190,582
1,759,688 233,511 1,643,796 218,132
9 1,759,688 233,511 1,643,796 218,132

1,759,688 233,511 1,643,796 218,132
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KYl 1104

309 c/o Maples

Corporate Services Limited, P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands

IFRS
IFRS I1AS
1ASB

IFRS

usb
usD
usb

uSsD
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IFRS

ECL
ECL
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2021

IFRS 16 coviD 19

IFRS IAS 39 IFRS IFRS IFRS 16
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2021 2020
1,541 16,025
1,541 16,025

2021 2020

210,000 220,000
210,000 220,000
2021 2020
(€)) (1,182)
(5,272) (3,201)
(106, 485) (107,093)
(111,758) (111,476)
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5,000 2020 5,000 2021 12 31
REITa
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CS
usS
usS
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UK
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a
AMP REIT
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CAT
HOLT
PIMCO
J REIT
AHL
SBI  PICTET
uS
17 20
2021

2021 2020
1,759,688 1,643,796
1,759,688 1,643,796
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2021 2020
210,863 220,970
210,863 220,970
2021 2020
223,931 217,933
223,931 217,933
2021 2020

1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

735,000 735,000 735,000 735,000
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31

210,863 210,863 220,863 220,863

210,863 210,863 220,863 220,863

223,931 223,931 217,933 217,933
735,000 735,000 735,000 735,000
958,931 958,931 952,933 952,933

2021 2020
210,000 210,000 220,000 220,000
210,000 210,000 220,000 220,000
2021 2020
106,485 107,093
106,485 107,093

2021 12 31
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Checft Suites Managemen? (Cnpme) Linllpd
Finmacis stmianenls for e pear eoged 87 Decorabor 2020

Statement of Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Rehy
usD eyt 2021 2020

L SN .}

T B which imerest income from instruments &1
amovlised cosf 1,541 15,025
Met interest income - 1,541 16,025

“Barvice iae ircoma EI G000 0000
e -
Met revenues 211,545 236,025

“Heneral, acminsrative and other Hﬁé}_ab'g_T__-Eﬁﬁéﬁéé}'h“"""""""mﬁ"f TT7ES Y ATEY
Operating prafil before allowance and taxation 949,787 124,549

Profit bafore tax 94,787 124,549

Prafit after tax 99,787 124,543

The azcompanying netes fomm an inlegral part of these financial Satements,

143/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cractt Sulpee Manggemen! (Caprun) Livtag

Francal slaforments fov Mo year onoed 31 Dezomtbor 2027

Statement of Financial Posilion as at 31 December 2021

UsD ﬁm* 2021 2020
R e T e e s sl e e
Cash ard due from benks 9 1,750,538 1,643,796
B e At nens e Y et i
Total assets 1,970,551 1,864,768
Liabilities

B B e R ST
Total liabilities 223,931 217,933

Shareholders’ equity
Sham capital 11 735,000 T35.000
Relained samirgs s T - R E 7 |
Total shareholders” equity 1,746,620 1,646,833
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,970,551 1. 864, TEE

Apnroved and authorised for iscue by the board of direciors on

Nicolos Papavoine
Director
Credit Suisse Monagement {Cayman) Limited

The accompanying notes form an infegral pat of these financlal statlemenis.
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ekt Suszge Mnnngemand (Taproar] Linitad
Flranplal stafemants for e pewr snded 3 Docsmbor 2007

usD

Share capital

Reatained
sarrings

Total

i
_Balance at 1 January
Profit for the yaar

PR - ....?__::é:::a

911833 1646833

45,787

99,787

Balance at 31 December

735,000

1,011,620

1,746,620

2020

"Balance at 1 Janwary T T UTS8000 787,084 1522984
Prefit for the year — 194,549 194 549
Balance at 31 December 735,000 911,833 1,646,833

The gecomparying notes fom an integral part of these financial stalements,
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Gl B ilaneperaent [nyrrian) Lshod
Fimnoul sisdemealy for i pear ancad 37 Dacember 2007

Staternent of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Rafas
G i e 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit betore tax for the period 93,787 124,549

Adjustments to reconclle net prefit to net cash
_generated from/(used in} operating activities

Mon-cash items included fn net profit before tax

and other adjustments:

Cash generated from operating activities before

changes In operating assets and liabilities 98,246 108,524
Net decrease/(increase) in operatingassets: s

Other assats 10,107 {3,643

Net decrease/(increase) in operating assels 10,107 (3,543)

MNetincrease in aperating liabilities:
Cither llablites
Netincrease in operating liabilities:

5888 85,604
5398

I|1lur55| If'm[m Ed T "----“-""""-‘1-""“""“. '1_E1I1t -"""“.l.é-lﬁ.
Net cash generated from operating activity 115,892 207,610
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 115,892 207,610
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 1,648,756 1,426, 186
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 1,759,688 1,643,796
Cash and due from banks 4 1,750,688 1,643,796
Cash and cash equivalents al the end of year 1,759,688 1,643,796

The accompanying notes form an integral part of thess financial statemenis.
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Crackt Suisse hanagement (Ciara; Limiled
Matse o Fingncisl stalemants for e pen anchef 517 Cacambes J021

Motes to the financial statements

1. Principal activities

Cregit Susse Management (Cayman) Limited (the *Company”) s incorporated In the Cayrman [slands
with fimited liabifly. The Company’s principal activilies are the creation ef trusts and the administration
ard managament of assets in trusts. The Company's registered office Is oo Maples Corporate
Senices Limited, .0, Box 308, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman lslands,

2. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial steterments have been prepsred in accordance with all appicable International
Firanclal Reporting Standards (IFRSs®), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Intemational  Firancial Repording Standards, !nterrational Accounting Standards (MASs™) and
Intespretations issued by Interratioral Acceunting Standards Board (IASET). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adosted by the Company is set out befow,

(by  Baslis of preparation of the financial statements
The mezsurement base used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of finangial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to maks
judgements, estimates and assumplicns that affect the apolication of soldies and reported amounts
of assets, liabililies, incame and experses, The estimates and associated assumplions are based on
historical experence and varicus other faclors that are believed fo be reasonable under the
creumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgerments about carying values of
azsets and llabilties that are nol resdly apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ fram
these estimates.

The estimates and underying assumpions are reviewed cn an ongeing bass.  Revsions to
accouniing estimates are recognised In the perled In which the estimate Is revised if the revisicn
affects onlby that period, or in the pericd of the revision and fulure periods if the revision affects beti
curant and fulure perocs.

{c) Forelgn currency

The Company's funclional and presentation cumency is Unded States Dollars ("USDS). Foreign
currengy transactions dudng the year are transtated into USD at the forelgn exchangs rates ruling at
ihe transaclion dales. Monetary assets and habilides denamirated in foreign currencies are ranslated
into USD at the forelgn exchange rates ruling a the end of Ihe reporing pericd. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary assels and liabiiities that are measured In terms of Risterdcal cost in a foreign currency
are translated info USD using the forsigs exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Mon-
meonetary assais and liabiites denominated in foreign currences that are stated at fair valus are
translated using the forelgn exchange rates nuling at the dates the Tair value was detesmired. Foreign
currency dfferences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss,
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2. Significant Accounting Policles (continued)
{dy  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and due from barks comorse cash at bark and on hand with banks, and short-term, highly
liquid imvestments thal ave readily corverible into known ameunts of cash and which are subject to an
insignifcant risk of charges in value, having besn within thres months of maturity at acquisition.

(&) Other assets

Other assets are Inibially recognised at fair value ard thersafier sialed at amorised cosi less

Expected Credit Less "ECLY) (refer fo Mote 2(gl), except where ihe receivables are inlerest-lree

koans made fo ralated parties without any fieed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be

Lﬂmt&rh’. In such cases, fhe recervables are stated at cost less impairment for bad and doubtfu’
ts.

(f Provisions and contingent llabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amound when the Company has a legal
or conslructve obligation arising as a result of a past evenl, it is probable hat an outfiow of scaramic
venefiis will ba required to setile the obligation and a rellable estimate cash be made. Where the time
vaue of monay is materal, provisiens are stated at the present value of the expendiure expected teo
setlle the obdigation.

Where it 15 not probable thet an cutflow of economic benefils will be required, or the amount cannol
be estimated relably, the coligation is disclosad as a contingent Fabiity, unless the probablity of
outflow of econamiz bensfils is remote. Passible chligations, whose esxisience will only be confimmed
by the cocumence or non-occurrence of ane or mone future events are siso disdosed as confingent
Eabities unless the probability of cutfiow of ecanamic benefits s remate.

gy  Impairment

The carrying amount of the Company's assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting perod to
determing whather there is any cobjective eviderce of impairment, If any such cbjeciive evidence
eidsts, the assef's recovarable amount iz estimated ai the end of each reporting peciod. An
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carying amount of an assel exceeds s recoverabie
amount, Impalment lesses ane recognised in the profit o loss,

Under IFRS 9, the impairmertt requiraments apply primary to finandial assels measured at amarlised
cost. The impaiment requisements are based oo a forward-locking expected credd lass madel by
incorporating reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions avaliable at the
reporting date. This requires considerable judgement over how changes in economic feclors 2flect
ECLs, which is deltermined on 4 probablity-weighted basis.

)] Revenue recognitien
Provided that it i probable fhel the economic benefils will fiow ta the Company and the revanue and
casts, if applicabla, can be measured refliably, sendce fee incame s recognised in profit or loss when
the imvestment management sendce is provided,

] Expenses

Al expenses are recognised in profit and loss on an accrual bass,
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Related partias

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party s considered to be related %o the Company if:
{a] A perscn, or & close memper of that person's famly, is related to the Cormpany if that person:
() has control or joint contral aver the Coenpary;
() has significant influance ever the Company; or
(i} is a member of the key masagement personnel of the Compary or the Compary's
pareni.

(B} Anentity is related to the Company if any of the following conditians applies:

{0  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means thet each
parent, subsiciary and felow subsidiary is related to the others),

{i}  Ore entily is an assoclate or joint venture of the other entily {or an associate o joint
venture of a member of a group of which the olher enfity is a member).

{il) Bsth entites are joint veriures of the same {hird party.

{v) One entity is a joinl verture of a third party and the cther entity 15 an assoclate of the
third party.

{9 The entity s a past-employment banefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Carnpany or an ertity related to the Company.

fi)  The entiy is controlied or jointly contralled by a person ideniified In (a),

i) A persen identified in (a}{)) hes sionificant Influsnce over the entity of is a member of the
key rmanagement personnel of ihe antity {or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of 2 person ere those family members wha may be espactsd to
influence, o be influsncad by, that person In thelr dealings with the entity,

Standards and Interpretations effective in the current pariod

The Company has appded the following amendments for the first time for their annual repering perod
commensing 1 January 2021
= Covid=19 - Related Rerl Corcessions - amendmeants 40 IFRS 16, and

 [nterest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 - amendments to IFRS 2, 1AS 59, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16.

Trhe amendments lsted above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or futune perods,
Changes in Accounting Policies

The IASE has (3sued a number of amendments to IFRS:s that are first effective for the cument
asccounting period of the Company. Nene of these developmenis have had a materia effect an how
the Company's results and financial position for the current or prios perlods have been prepared or
peasented in Mote 20k},

The Company has nol applied any new standard or interpretation that is rot yet effective for the
cument accourting paricd (Mote 16).
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4. Met Interest Incoma

uso 2021 2020
Netinterest income
'nferest incame on cash and dua from banks 1,541 o 1EC|25

Total interest income 1,541 16,025

Al the sbove Imerast income an mstruments are &t amorlised cost,

5 Service Fee Income

The pincipal activities of the Company are the creation of frusts ard the adminmirelion and
manegement of assels in trusts,

Revenus represents investment mansgement fee income eamed from fellow subsidiary as follows:

UsD 2021 2020
A S T
Tatal revenues 210,000 220,000

6. General, Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

uso 2021 2020
_General administrative and other operatingexpenses
Do chges.. . oennere s e s SR HUIEE
Auditar rermureration {5,272 {2,201
R R S
Tolal general adminislrative and other operating expanses {111.758) {111,47E)

Al of the above expandiures are payable fe the Company's immediate holding company and the
immediale holding company setfles such expandifures on behall of the Company.

7. Taxation
There are na taxes o incame of gains in the Cayrman lslands and the Comnpany has rezeived an
undertaking from the Gowemer in Council of the Cayman Islands exemnpting it from all local income,

prodits and capital tares unti! 10 October 2039, Accordingly, no provision for income bases is included
in theags financial staterments,
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8. Unconsolidated Structured Entilies

Tre Company considers itself the socnsor of & structured entily when either its name appears i the
name of the stiuctured entity or in products issued by it or there is @ genaral expectation from the
markel that the Company is assocated with the stractured entity or the Company was involved in the
design ar set up of the siuciured antity and has a form of involvement with the structured entity.

The below uncongolidated slrectured emtities are sponsored by the Comparty where a fied annusl
managemeni fee of USD 5,000 (2020: USD 5,000) is recefred bul o interest is held by the
Company as at 31 December 2021:

“Blatal REIT Income Alpha Fund (For Quaiiied [nstiutions! Iovestars Onk)

“Australian High Dividend Eauity Twin Alpha Furd (For Ouaified instfutional investors Only)

US RET Premium Fund {ﬂnr ‘Guelified Instifuiional rvestors (‘mr;;}

“Dihwa Augiralian High Dvidend Equily Alpha Fund (For Guallfied Institutinal investors Orly)

i CS Cam.dra"l l.l"tjl hmms FJ..nd (For ‘Cluaified Instit .nnal Imesbcr'i Gru‘y}
o o -

------------- FETTEELEEY

US Higlr- Dhr Eq.;r'ty P*&rﬂjum Fu'n:l {For Qualnﬁed Errst onal Ivestors Oniy)
Py

*?_L.m Fuﬂr.‘l {Far Mlmd Inshtl.r.r:ral Imastma U-"Iljf:l

UsP F‘r'e'm'md REIT Inmme Fl.md{Fw ""ual'rliud !n

'Eﬂl'f"ﬁm&m ia Income Bond. Fu-.d {For Cual o

"Bz Equity Alpha Fund (For Gualfied Institutional Ivestors Cniy) —~ _______:__:_. %
_p_g.._'.-.u Braziian qﬂ: Bond Fund (For Qualfiec h':s'atulma Irrremr?_qn};
“issay Japan Equity Aciive Fund {For Qualfied instutionalinvestors Only) "
AP fustralia REIT Fund (For Guatfied Instiutio
JREIT and Real Estate Equity Fund For Gualfied Instiutional investors i)~

gnm;.-. Ametican High Dividend Equily Guatirs Incorme Fund (Fer Ouaiied insthutioral investors.

imastors Dnh.r]

"Ghinsai Ward u’ufm]-: S‘tnba &pe L'Fnr Cialfied Instiiutional lrvestons Dnlﬂ

S REIT rple Engine Pils Fund (f'or Dualined inslifutional mvestors Gy}
U8 Municipal Bond Fund e
T'I‘.‘kh‘ Mml.ﬁ Cﬁ‘r M qu FITTTT T T EE T IEArAmAEEATEISEACEANFESSESSSEEST S RSN
‘Giobal Figh Dividend Equly Premibm Fund (For Qualied insiiufional Investors O | "

:i_'_f'?LT -@‘Ec!.:rrzr‘ P-'arﬂ .Jm Fund (For ﬂualﬁ_e_lc 1nst|tu.rnr:a.-__ Ifr-mgtqrfcﬂﬂr]
AC

MCE
-Dgu_wa - FEEIT Ccruered Ca.l Fund {For Qualified inst tufional investors ﬂrI}r}

ifﬂregn Dencminated Man AFL Smart Lwerase Elm’cag}r Fund

“HA et Asia i “Tech Venture Fund

i ':h:rt Tarr" Band Fund

11
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8.  Unconsclidated Structured Eniities (continued)

smms 2 e B R R R R R RN N RN R W R

Imzigit  Alpha

sEmEEEa BB BB S e s R R R R R e e S R E R SRR mE e R

LS Cr{'n'mr: Gr ::'.'.-‘h_ I'q_.rp-j

&um Viorkd Wrap' Growih Type (For Qualified Instiuiional Investors Oy’
s The fu"n:s VAR '.efm- .ataad during 213'21

The Company has not provided financial or ofher support to uncorsclidaled structured entithes that i
was not confraciually required to provide.

The Compary does not curenlly have the interticn f5 provide financlal or other support to
unconsoldated structured antiies that it is net contractualy required to provide.

9. Cash and Due from Banks

Cash and cash equivalents comonise:

usp 2021 2020
Cash and due from banks

Cash ard due from banks 1,750,668 1,643,796
Total eash and due from banks 1,758,688 1,643,796

10, Other Assets and Other Liabilities

Usp 2021 2020
Qther assels =
Interest z2nd fass recehable 210,853 HLAT0
Tatal other assats 210,863 220,970
UsD 201 2020
Other liabilities _
Interest and fses payabls 22383 217,933
Tatal other Rabilities 223,931 217,933
12
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11. Share Capital
(a)  Authorised and issued share capital

2021 - 2020

Mo, of uso Mo, of uso
shares shares
Authorised:
Qrdinary shares of USD 1 each 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1000000
Issued and fully paid up: 2
Crdnary shares TEL,O00 735,000 795,000  Tan 00

The halders of erdinary shares are entifled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitied to cne vole per share st general meetings of the Company. All crdinary shares rank squally
with regard to the Company's residusl assets.

(b  Capital management

The Company's pamary ablectives when managing capital are to sateguard the Company's sbility to
confinue as a going concern so that it man conlinue to provide retums to sharehaiders, by pricing
senvices commensuraiely wilh 1e level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonaole
cost. As the Company s part of a larger group, the Company’s sources of additional capilal and
polficies for dishibution of excess capital may also be affected by the group's capilal managemaent
obectves. The Compary defines “capial” as ncluding afl companents of equity.

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewsd and managed wilh cue regard to the capital
management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are made 1o the
capital struchure in light of changes i economic conditions affecting the Compary or the group, to
the extent that these do not confiict with the directors” fiduciary duties towards the Company.

The Compary was net subject to exernaly imposed capital requirements in the cumant perod.
12.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

Exposure to credit, liquidty, interast rate and foreign cumency risks arises in the normal course of the
Ceompany's businass, These risks ane managed by the Company's financial management poldes and
practices described below.

{a)  Credi risk

The Company's credit risk I8 primarly attributable to emounts dus frem group companias and cash al
bank, Cradit sk 5 defined as risk that ane party to a finencial instrument will cause a financial bss to
anoiher party by faling to discharge an obligation. Management regularly mortlors its risk expasure to
ensure that its credit risk is kept tooa minimal level. The masimuem exposure to redt sk is
represented by the camying amount of each financlal asset In the statement of financial position after
deducling any Impaimnent alowance.
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Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (continued)
L bquicity risk

The Company's policy is to reguiarly monitor s liquidity requirements to satisfy its contractuzl and
reazorably foreseeable chllgations as they fall due.

At 31 Cecember 2021 ard 2020, a!l of the Company's financial Fabiities, which includes al creditors
and accruals, 2re on demand or undated and are expected 1o be sellled betwesn three to twebve
mniths.

Interest rate risk

The Compary iz exposed to inlerast rate risk onby to the sxdent that it earns bank interest on cash
and depasits, Al 31 December 2021 and 2020, a change in inferest rates would heve no direct
material effect on the camying value of 1he recognised assels or fabilties of the Company,

Foreign currency risk

The Company is expesed to forelgn cumency risk primarily through cerain transactions which give rise
to payables that are denominated In Hong Kang dellars (*HKDS.

As the HKD i pegged to the USD, the Company considers that the risk of mowaments in exchange
rates bebwean USD ard HKD ta be insggnificant.

Fair values

The carying amounts of the Company's financlal instruments camisd at cost or amortised cost are
not materially cifferent from their fair value as at 31 December 2021 and 2020,

Material Related Party Transactions

In addition to the fransactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the Tinancial sistements, ihe
Company entered Ints the falowing rmaterial related parly transactions.

Related party balance sheet transactions

31 December 2021 31 Decembear 2020
Parant Fallow Total Parant Falkow Total
Group Group
usD Companies Companies
Asaats
Other assats - 210,553 210,863 = 20,853 250,863
Total assets i 210,863 210,863 - 220,863 220,863
Liabilities and
Equily
Other lohilies 2B e 2R TR 208
Shere coptal 726,000 - TEE,000 736,000 — 735,000
Tatal liabilities and
shareholdars"
equity 958,931 — 858.931 452,933 - 552,833

Wil o paeabond fig ordr Riow Beses rsclane® ad 5 30700 1 1N Sarmend el fraasnlitr

14
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13.  Material Related Party Transactions (continued)

()  Related party revenues and expenses

2021 5 2020
Parent Fallow Total Parent Fellow Total
Group Group
usp Companbas Companies
Reverues
Sevics feeincome = 210000 210000 = 220000 220000
“Total revenues - 210,000 210,000 - 220,000 220,000

=] Remuneration of key management personnal

“Remuneration of key management persannel (LSO} 2021 2020
Short-term emplopse beneiits 106,480 107,063
Talal Remuneratien of key management personnel 106,485 107,033

14. Parent and Uitimate Holding Company

At 31 Decamber 2031, the immediate parent of the Company is Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited,
which is incorporated in Heng Meng and the ultimate controling party of the Comparny is Credit
Suisse Group AG, which iz incompavated in Switzerland. Cred?t Suisse Group AG produces firarcial
glaternents avallable for public use.

15, Poscible Impact of Amendments, New Standards and [nterpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2021

Certalr new accounting standards, amendments to accourting standards and interpretations have
been pubished thal are not mandatary for 31 December 2021 reporting pericds and have not been
eary adosted by the Compary, These standards, amendments or interpretations ana not expected fo
have 2 meteral impect on the enfity in the curment or fubure reporting periods and on foresesshble
future transactons.
16. Subsequent Events

There have been no matters or droumstances That have arsen since the end of the finenclal perod,
which significarty affected, o may significantly affect, the operations of the Compary, the resulls of
those ooeraticns, or the state of affairs of the Company in futume financial years.

17.  Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements ware approved for issue by the beard of directass of the Company on 10
Juns 2022,

15
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Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of AUD Short Term Bond Fund (the "Series Trust"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at August 31, 2022, the statements of comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of the Series Trust as at August 31 , 2022, and its financia performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAS"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the " Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financia statementsin the Cayman Islands, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Series Trust's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust's financial reporting process.

190/195



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Independent Auditors' Report to the Trustee (continued)

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our
opinion. Reasonabl e assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAS will aways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Series Trust's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors
report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue
as agoing concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
amanner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

December 16, 2022
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman)Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

What we have audited

The financia statements of Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (the* Company”), which are set out on pages 3
to 15, comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,

the statement of income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financia statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRSS”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.
Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(“IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin accordance with the IESBA Code.
Responsibilities of Directors for the Financia Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of

Credit Suisse Management (Cayman)Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance isahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will aways
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company'sinternal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statementsor, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 10 June 2022
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